
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2011-0210

	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:


	2
July 12, 2012

Marika Hare

Paul Sommerville

Karen Taylor
	Presiding Member

Member
Member


EB-2011-0210
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act 1998, S.O. 1998, c.15, (Schedule B);

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Union Gas Limited, pursuant to section 36(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, for an order or orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates and other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas as of January 1, 2013.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Thursday, July 12th, 2012,

commencing at 9:39 a.m.
--------------------

VOLUME 2
--------------------



BEFORE:



MARIKA HARE

Presiding Member




PAUL SOMMERVILLE
Member and Vice-Chair




KAREN TAYLOR

Member

MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel
KHALIL VIRANEY
Board Staff

LAWRIE GLUCK

CRAWFORD SMITH
Union Gas
MARK KITCHEN

CHRIS RIPLEY
JOHN WOLNIK
Association of Power Producers of Ontario (APPrO)

TOM BRETT
Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA)

PETER THOMPSON
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (CME)

ROBERT WARREN
Consumers Council of Canada (CCC)

DAVID MacINTOSH
Energy Probe Research Foundation

ROGER HIGGIN

DWAYNE QUINN
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
JAMES GRUENBAUER
City of Kitchener

RANDY AIKEN
London Property Managers Association (LPMA)
VALERIE YOUNG
Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators (OAPPA)

JAY SHEPHERD
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
MURRAY ROSS
TransCanada Pipelines

GORDON CAMERON

MICHAEL BUONAGURO
Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition
1--- On commencing at 9:39 a.m.


1Preliminary Matters


5UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1, RESUMED


P. Gardiner, C. Newbury, S. Van Der Pelt,

Previously Sworn


6Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett



19Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin



38Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro


49--- Recess taken at 11:02 a.m.


49--- On resuming at 11:32 a.m.


49Preliminary Matters



51Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro



63Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd



81Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson


98--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:53 p.m.


98--- On resuming at 2:08 p.m.


98Preliminary Matters



117Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn



120Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar



141Questions by the Board


147--- Recess taken at 3:37 p.m.


147--- On resuming at 3:54 p.m.


147Re-Examination by Mr. Smith


162UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 2


M. Evers, T. Hodgson, D. Quigley, C. Shorts, Sworn

162Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith



168Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik


168--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:31 p.m.





49EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.


63EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  SEC COMPENDIUM OF CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS.


81EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  CME COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS, REVENUE IN-FRANCHISE




42UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO CALCULATE THE LOAD FORECAST AND REVENUE DEFICIENCY FOR 2013 AS THOUGH IT WERE YEAR 6 OF THE IRM PERIOD


44UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO CALCULATE THE IMPACT OF A REVENUE DEFICIENCY WITH A 50-50 BLEND


50UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  FOR RATE 20, TO PROVIDE MODEL FOR IDENTIFIED AND DISAGGREGATED, ECONOMETRIC VERSUS GROUND-UP


51UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO REPRODUCE J1.1 USING THE HEAT-SENSITIVE LOAD


73UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO PROVIDE 2013 DEGREE DAYS BASED ON TEN-YEAR THROUGH TO 30-YEAR TREND, KEEPING 2010 AS THE LAST YEAR.


100UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL DEFICIENCY IMPACT OF CONTINUING THE 55:45 METHODOLOGY IN CONTRACT CATEGORIES ASSESSED ECONOMETRICALLY.


120UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:  TO CONFIRM FIRST MONTH OF Plant OVERRUN


139UNDERTAKING NO. J2.8:  TO PROVIDE PRE-UPDATE NUMBERS FOR LCI.


140UNDERTAKING NO. J2.9:  TO UPDATE LCI NUMBERS IN LINES 3 AND 4 OF EXHIBIT C1, TAB 2, TABLE 2






Thursday, July 12, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:39 a.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. HARE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

We have two preliminary matters that we wanted to raise, and then I will ask if there are any other preliminary matters.

The two I would like to raise, one is with respect to the hearing schedule that was distributed late afternoon Tuesday, and the second is the correspondence from CME and Union with respect to the cost of capital issue.

So with respect to the first issue, the schedule, the schedule looks fine to the Panel, with the exception that we wanted to confirm that all of the arguments will be oral.  So July 30th, Union argument would be oral, and then we don't see the need for Board Staff to go first.  We would suggest August 13th for Board Staff and intervenor arguments delivered orally, and, if we need a second day, that would be on the 14th, and then Union reply, also oral, on August 28th.

Are there any comments about that suggestion?

MR. BRETT:  I just have one question, if I may, Madam Chair.  No problem with the oral argument practice.

Have you given any thought to giving for everybody, for all participants, some kind of a timeline as to what you might expect; in other words, how long you might expect them to take in their oral argument, or are you leaving that open?

MS. HARE:  Well, at this point it's open.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  We can canvass parties, perhaps closer to the end of the hearing, to get a sense for how long that would be, and that would then better enable us to know whether we're talking about one or two days.

MR. BRETT:  It struck me there may be some equity and some convenience in specifying that everybody should think about taking not more than whatever period it is.

MS. HARE:  We will take that under advisement.

The second issue is the -- yes, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Just with respect to your suggestion that Board Staff should not precede intervenors, recently my understanding is Board Staff has been preceding intervenors to allow intervenors an opportunity to respond to anything that Staff might say, as well.  So I just believe that would be more efficient, quite frankly, if we could adhere to that concept.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we would be happy to go first, but I think the current schedule shows Board Staff argument on a different day than the other parties.  I don't know if it is necessary for everyone to come in to hear me talk for half an hour.

MS. HARE:  Is it helpful to intervenors, then, if they only hear the Staff submission, you know, 20 minutes before you deliver your submissions?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, earlier would be better, but as long as we heard it before, we at least have an opportunity to say something in response.  So I would prefer the one day before, if possible.

MS. HARE:  What we will consider, and we will come back to you on this, is whether or not then Staff puts in a written argument, say, a couple of days before the oral.

MR. MILLAR:  We will have some offline discussions perhaps, Madam Chair, to see if we can sort something out.  I think we can accommodate Mr. Thompson.

MR. CAMERON:  Madam Chair, could I make another comment, but first of all introduce myself?  I am Gordon Cameron for TransCanada Pipelines, and I would like to, in addition to introducing myself, thank the Panel for accommodating TransCanada generally, and me in particular.

As you might be aware, I am running another hearing at the south end of the city right now, so I am spending, I anticipate --


MS. HARE:  Going back and forth.

MR. CAMERON:  Going back and forth on the subway trying to be in two places at once.

I was wondering if, on your first point, you were precluding the option, if an intervenor chose, to submit written argument instead of oral argument.  TransCanada would hope to submit oral argument.  It is just that I might be in Calgary on the date that I would be otherwise scheduled to do so.

MS. HARE:  We normally do accommodate that, if it is difficult for the counsel to be present, but we do prefer oral argument, and the reason we prefer it is it gives us an opportunity to ask questions and to have a little dialogue back and forth.

MR. CAMERON:  Absolutely.

MS. HARE:  That would be our preference.

MR. CAMERON:  That would certainly be TransCanada's preference, as well.  I am just worried I might end up being in the wrong side of the country at the time I am meant to be here.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  The second issue is the issue raised by CME.  We would like to hear the issue before the cost of capital panel, which right now is scheduled for Monday.  So our preference would be to hear that issue tomorrow afternoon so that we can then deliberate over the weekend and have a decision Monday morning before the cost of capital.  Is that acceptable?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's acceptable to me, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  It is perfectly acceptable from my perspective, as well.

MS. HARE:  Are there any other preliminary issues?

MR. SMITH:  One brief preliminary issue.  We had given a number of undertakings on Tuesday, and I expect to be filing those after the morning break this morning.

MS. HARE:  Good.  Thank you.  So, Mr. Brett, you had about ten minutes left.  Sorry, Mr. Sommerville has something.

MR. BRETT:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In preparation for the submissions respecting the evidentiary matter that you raised, Mr. Thompson, I note that in quoting the undertaking that was made in the 0520 case, the agreement that you are relying upon is the -- it says it will not use the after tax weighted average cost to support any changes it proposes to either the Board's draft guidelines or formula based.

Then I note we also have the correspondence from Union to the effect they were not submitting the evidence for the purpose of supporting their position in that.  Does that change the position at all?  I am not trying to -- I am just suggesting that -- I am not sure there is a great divergence in view there.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You think there is, and, therefore -


MR. THOMPSON:  I don't want to make a big deal out of this, but I also don't want to --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- treat it trivially, but I try and address that on the second page of the letter where I say, if they're not relying on the ATWACC methodology to support the undertaking response, then that is another reason for excluding the evidence.

MS. HARE:  We will hear this tomorrow afternoon.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will hear it tomorrow, then.  Thanks.

MS. HARE:  All right.  Mr. Brett, you are going to continue with your cross-examination, please.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1, RESUMED

Paul Gardiner, Previously Sworn


Cheryl Newbury, Previously Sworn


Sarah Van Der Paelt, Previously Sworn

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:


MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good morning, panel.  Just a few questions.  If you would -- panel, if you would turn up tab C1, tab 2, page 7, and that's -- I have a few questions on this, on the way in which the forecast is done and presented for these large 60 customers that we finished discussing the other day or started discussing the other day.

These are customers that account, as I understand your evidence, for 60 percent of volume throughput and 60 percent of revenue of the contract group of customers; correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  So it is a very significant chunk of revenue.

Now, my question is, really, you have this -- you discussed this a little bit last day.  You have this group of 60 very large customers, and, as I understand it, you do individual forecasts for them, is that...

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And you do this by, first of all, making your own forecast, but then you go and discuss that in some detail with each of the -- each of the customers.

When I say "you", I don't mean you personally, but you must have a group of account executives that do this; is that right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's right.

MR. BRETT:  And so you get input from your customers, and then each of the account executives finalizes the forecast.  Is that how it goes?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We meet with our customers on an ongoing basis throughout the year to talk about their plans.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  When we present what their historical numbers would indicate would be an appropriate forecast, we then leave it with the customers for them to take it through their own process to determine if that is appropriate.

The account manager or the account executive, as you referred to them, then sits with the customer and confirms that this is the forecast that the customer is willing to back their contract parameters with, and then the contract is set for the next year according to those parameters.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So, in effect, the final decision to make the -- the final decision, if you like, is taken by you, by Union, but after close consultation with the customer.  In other words, if there were a disagreement of some sort between you and the customer as to what the forecast should be, in light of the previous actuals and developments that had occurred since, I take it you have the final say in the sense that you are accountable for the forecast; is that right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  To the extent -- we do have the final say for the forecast.  To the extent the discussion with a customer resulted in contractual changes to their parameters, if the customer did not agree with them, they would not sign the contract.  So the customer does have to agree with the resulting CD parameters and daily contract quantity parameters should they change as a result of the forecast.  Those are set annually.

MR. BRETT:  So the contract parameters you are referring to are the contract demand, and, what, a minimum daily volume or an MDV?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We refer to it as the daily contract quantity.  It is the volume of gas that the customer has to deliver to Union every day throughout the 365 days of their contract year.

MR. BRETT:  Under his bundled T contract or his unbundled T.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Or his T1, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And the -- now, you haven't presented a forecast of those, as I understand it.  Am I correct in saying you haven't presented in your evidence a forecast of the volume that will be taken by those large -- 60 largest customers, as such, a separate forecast?  Am I right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Their forecast would be embedded in C1, tab 2, page 7.

MR. BRETT:  Well, you are referring there to the -- it is embedded in the sense that tab 1, page C1, tab 2, page 7 -- well, let me step back.

Which of the two tables are you referring to there?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  To table 1.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  But table 1, as I see it, does not contain a category for the 60 largest customers.  Which items, in table 1, make up the 60 largest customers?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's where we get to it would be embedded.  So there would be part of the power forecast, part of the steel and chemical forecast, a portion of the LCI and key, and a portion of the greenhouse.

MR. BRETT:  Would it be possible for you to file separately a -- the forecast for just the 60 largest customers?

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I would like to object to the request for the undertaking, in that we are asking questions about prefiled evidence that was filed some seven months ago.

We have been through interrogatories and a technical conference.  The request has never been made.

And to make it at this stage, in my submission, when you have the built-up numbers that my friend has had ample opportunity to ask about is, I think, an unreasonable request.

MR. BRETT:  Can I re -- can I just respond for a moment on this?  Two points, really.

I admit the fact that the question could have been asked earlier.

Secondly, on his second point, though, the reason for asking for a separate forecast for this group is, as I hope has been apparent through my cross-examination, I am trying to separate these groups by the method used to forecast.

Each grouping for each of three or four groupings they have used a different method.  And what I have tried to do is explore the strengths and weaknesses of each of those methods.

Now, for this group of 60 they used a distinct method that they didn't use for anybody else, which is one-on-one, detailed negotiations almost with each of their customers.

Given that we're trying to analyze the efficacy of these forecasts, it seems to me the key thing is:  What was the method that was used?  So to say to me that it is embedded in this list of table 1 as four or five different categories, those categories also include dozens and dozens of companies that aren't on the list of 60, or some of them do in any event.  For example, the LCI certainly does.

So from a substantive point of view, I think it is -- I think it is a very good question.  From a timing point of view, he is right.

I would only add that there were thousands and thousands of IRs in this case, and, you know, you try and think of everything as you are going through but sometimes you don't get it all.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are you seeking an aggregated --


MR. BRETT:  Yes, sir.  I'm not seeking any -- I'm not seeking -- I'm seeking an aggregated number, one number for all 60.  I am not trying to get into issues of individual companies.  I could have asked for that with numbers, but I don't need that.

I just need the aggregated number.

MS. HARE:  So your question really is out of the 60 largest customers, which percentage of the total they make up?  Is that the question?

MR. BRETT:  I know the percentage of the total.  What I really want to know is – is -- because I only had -- my friend interrupted me before I finished my request, or the undertaking request I was going to make.  I was partway through a series of questions.

What I would really like to see is the forecast for the 60 as against the most recent actuals for the 60.

In other words -- in other words how -- you know, in other words giving us for the 60 what we've already had for these other groups, which is a comparison of forecast versus actuals.

MS. HARE:  For what year?

MR. BRETT:  Well, I would -- ideally I would like them from 2007 through 2011, and that is one number, and 2012 to date.

MS. TAYLOR:  So, Mr. Brett, if I could just paraphrase for a second, so what you are concerned with is that you have an aggregate forecast of 8,689 ten-to-the-six metres cubed for 2013, and that is a compound forecast, part of which was derived using an econometric model with certain variables, regression statistics, accuracies and so on.

And then added to that or incorporated to that number is another forecast representing the 60 largest customers who are not included in the econometric model, I am assuming, and that you have aggregated it together.

So now you are asking it to be disaggregated in order to ascertain whether the combined parts are actually reasonable?

MR. BRETT:  That's correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  Is that what you want to do with that?

MR. BRETT:  That's correct, yes.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Perhaps I could add one reference.  If we look at C1, tab 2, page 11, there is a volume forecast by rate class.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Internally, when we think of the top 60 customers, those are T1 customers.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  M7.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  And the rate 100.

MR. BRETT:  But the next question is:  What else is in those rate categories other than these 60 customers?  And I think we had that discussion yesterday, and I think that you indicated there were other types of companies.  There was more than just those 60 customers in the T1 and some of those other rate classes you just cited.

Are you telling me that they're coincident?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.  On Tuesday, you asked about the different segments that were in those rate classes.

So for example in T1, you would find power customers, you would find manufacturing, you would find institutional.

However, we do bottom-up forecasts for all of the T1s regarding -- regardless of the business segment that they are in, because they would be considered the very large customers.

MR. BRETT:  Let me come back to my question, then.

Is the group of 60 coincident with the T1 rate class?

You have given us a forecast here and given us actuals for the T1 rate class.  Is that identical to the -- are those numbers the same as the numbers are for the 60?  Is that what you're saying?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's what I'm saying.  Including rate 100, as well, so it is slightly more than 60 because the rate 100 would also be a bottom-up forecast.

So for example, just as an illustrative number, the rate 100 in 2011 has a volume of 1,892, and the T1 is 4,607.

So collectively that is approximately 60 percent, as stated in the evidence, of the 8,837.   So those --


MR. BRETT:  Sorry, where are you recording those?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  C1, tab 2, page 11 of 14.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Table 3.  2011 actuals for rate 100 --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  -- are 1,892.

MR. BRETT:  I see that, yes.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  T1 is 4,607.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  If you take those two numbers, you know, that is roughly the 60 percent of the 8,837.

MR. THOMPSON:  Perhaps I could interrupt.

If you look at J.C-3-14-1, attachment 3, this was a question of ours, where you broke out -- this has 2007 through to 2013, and it has each of those rate classes, and so you can see the T1 numbers you are talking about and the rate 100 numbers.

I think this may be what Mr. Brett is after.

MR. BRETT:  Are those -- just back to my question, again, because I am not certain -- let me just check this interrogatory here.  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that J.C-3-14-1, attachment 3?

MR. BRETT:  Mr. Thompson is just showing me something that I think reflects the fact that the numbers of customers seem to be very close.  If you add the numbers of customers in the two rate classes, you get 58, and you talk of the largest 60 customers.  So I think I can work with that.

I really don't see what the big problem is, but I can work with that.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  I am perfectly fine with that.  I had misunderstood my friend is asking for a disaggregated of the 58 by individual component, but if that is not his request, I think we can work with this perfectly fine.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry.  Now I don't understand where we are.  I thought, Mr. Brett, you were satisfied with the information here.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  There is nothing more to be provided, then?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Given what we just -- given the help Mr. Thompson has given me, I think I am satisfied with what I've got.

I think that -- I just have one last question and that is you mentioned, panel -- well, let me just ask you, because I can't tell you exactly where I saw it.

Am I right in saying that when you do the contract forecast -- sorry, the forecast for the large 60, these individual one-on-one forecasts, these numbers are not normalized in any way; is that right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And is that true of the other numbers in the contract rate category, as well?  There is no normalization applied?

MR. GARDINER:  The economic -- econometric analysis that is used say, for example, on the LCI market is all based on actual data, so the data series by month.  So we have actual volumes, actual weather, actual prices, things like that.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. GARDINER:  It is --


MR. BRETT:  Just so I understand, when you say -- Ms. Van Der Paelt, when you say that these numbers are not -- the contract numbers are not normalized, what are you -- what do you mean?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We take the actual volumes, the actual revenue and the actual volume, that was consumed --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  -- on a historic basis.  We do not alter that to factor in whether it was colder or warmer.

MR. BRETT:  I see.  So it doesn't have to do with how you forecast.  It has to do with how you treat the actual numbers once you have them, your comment about not being normalized?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Now, in the general service class, by comparison, do you -- you do something with the actuals.  You normalize them; is that it?  Is that the distinction you are making, Mr. -- for any of the panel?

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.  In the general service market, regression analysis is based on actual data, okay?

Maybe I should clarify.  Setting the equation -- setting the equation, the demand equation, in econometrics use actual data. You use that equation with your assumptions, okay?

MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry, I didn't catch that last comment.  You use that equation?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  So to find the equation that tells you what the demand in the future, it is all based on actual data, okay?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. GARDINER:  The forecast is based on your assumptions, okay?  If there is a weather variable in demand equation, the normal is assumed.

MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry, the forecast that you make of the future consumption in the general class is based on -- contains a normalized component?

MR. GARDINER:  The normal weather.

MR. BRETT:  For normal weather in the forecast year, based on whatever method -- weather methodology you are using, is that --


MR. GARDINER:  That's right.

MR. BRETT:  If you're using a 20-year trend, you use that trend to tell you what normal weather is in the test year; is that what you're saying?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. THOMPSON:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I think I might have misled Mr. Brett and the Panel here, as well.

The numbers I gave were manufacturers totalling 58.  I see in this exhibit the total number of customers, T1, based on what are shown at line 4 for 2013 would be 64, and then for 100 it would be 17.  So that is a total of 81.  So that is more than the 60, and maybe Mr. Brett should have his undertaking to confine it to the 60, unless you are doing bottoms-up for 81 as opposed to 60.

MR. BRETT:  Well, if I may speak to that, I think, given that statement, I would rather have my undertaking that I asked for and that Mr. Smith agreed to.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Van Der Paelt, can you answer the question whether or not you do bottom-up for 81 or just the 60?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We would do bottom-up for 81, all rate 100 and all T1.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So you're saying that -- all right.  I see your question, Madam Chair.  You're saying you use the same method for the top 60 -- you use the same method for the other 20 that Mr. Thompson identified as you use for the top 60; is that what you're saying?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  What I'm saying is that in the evidence where it says approximately 60, it should probably read approximately 80.

MR. BRETT:  All right, thank you.  That's fine.

MS. TAYLOR:  Just to be clear, then, so for the remaining classes - not the T1 and not the 100 - for all the remaining rate classes you use an econometric model, is that correct, or is there another model you are using, any other bottom-up approach?

So we have two approaches that are embedded in the forecast.  One is bottom-up for T1 and 100, and you use an econometric model for certain rate classes.  Is there a third model that you are using, and can you break out -- it is easy to do.  Just tell me what model you are using for each of the rate classes, bottom-up or econometric, and if there is differences in the econometric models, then I think we need to know that.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Okay.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So to clarify, there are two methods that are used, econometric -- econometric would be used for rate 20.  Rate 25, because it is an interruptible contract, is usually part of the rate 100 contract, so it is all part of a similar negotiation.  So that would fall into the bottom-up approach with the rate 100.

T1 would be a bottom-up approach.  M7 would be a bottom-up approach.  M4 would be econometric.  M5 would be econometric.  The T3 category would be bottom-up.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  Who is next?  Is it Mr. Thompson, Mr. Buonaguro, Mr. Higgin?
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.  I am Roger Higgin, and I am representing Energy Probe today.

So I have three topics I would like to cover.  They are really follow-ups to the evidence you have given with respect to Mr. Aiken and others.  They are heating degree day forecasts and follow-up and supplementary questions, and then some questions on the 2011 commercial NAC, or N-A-C, and the throughput forecast for 2011, and then, finally, some questions on the actual use true-up and the account that has been used in the past for that.  So those are my three topics.

So let's start with the heating degree day methodology.  I would like to understand a few additional points about the data and how it is used to produce the forecast.

So as you discussed with Mr. Aiken, Union uses Pearson Airport data, and then uses this to derive a southern and northern degree forecast.  And that is discussed at the transcript, volume 1, pages 29 and 30.

So what I would like to now add to that is just an explanation, if you could, of how Union then uses that forecast together with, I think, a blend of southern and northern, or a whole franchise amount, to come up with the volumes for the general service regression forecast.  We will stop there at the general service.

If you could just quickly go through how that is and how the blend is derived?

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.  The first issue is Toronto Pearson and the northern region, southern -- the Union weather-normal.

In the evidence, we presented analysis on Toronto Pearson, and the reason we did that was to demonstrate the concept.  In 2004, when we argued the concept initially, we used Toronto Pearson because it was a central, common, with long data, data series on weather.  So we used that to demonstrate the concept.

Because Toronto Pearson and the Union Gas franchise weather data is highly correlated, we felt comfortable in using Toronto Pearson as a demonstration source of data, place of -- a place we could use to say, you know, when you look at long trends in weather, given the advice from our consultants that we had, external consultants, doing the analysis of the different methods that were used, Toronto was a good laboratory data population.

And so I want to make clear we do not use Toronto Pearson Airport data to establish, say, the southern normal.  Okay?  Because the southern and Pearson are highly correlated and the exercises we did on the analysis on the 20-year trend, we saw the similar story.  It is getting warmer.  Okay?

So I just want to make that clear, that Pearson, really we used it for our weather evidence, for the argument for the 20-year declining trend.  And we carried on because in 2004 that was the weather station for -- under analysis.

We said:  Well, okay.  We did it there.  We will continue it.  We also provided the other two so it was complete.

Now, in the demand forecast, we have a northern region data and we have southern franchise data.  And we established normals for both of those.

And, as Mr. Aiken asked yesterday, there are about 16 weather stations.  The majority are in the north, and there is about six in the south.

We collect each day the weather data, the average of the minimum and max of the daily temperatures, and from the average daily temperature convert that into heating degree-day at 18 degrees Celsius base.

Collect that for each of them.  So for example, Sarnia, London, Hamilton.

To come up with the southern heating degree-day number, we then apply the volumetric weights, which are being provided in an undertaking.  So if the volumetric weight for Hamilton is 20 percent -- I am just -- I don't have the table in front of me, but for the sake of discussion say it is 20 percent and it was 10 heating degree-days, then you would get a contribution of two into the southern number.

The same sort of calculation is done for the north.  So this is done for every day.  So once you have your southern daily heating degree-day number, then you add them, you get your numbers for the month and you add them and you get your numbers for the year.

And that is how the large amount of weather data is, then, sort of crystallized into these two regional numbers.

For the normal, once we have our 20 years of actual heating degree-day data for each region, we put a trend line, the 20-year trend line through it.  Or, for 2012, we have in evidence we use the current blended normal, the 55:45.

So in that case, I have to do that calculation twice.  I put a 20-year trend line through it.  I also calculate the 30-year average and I apply the two-way 65-45 and come up with the number.  That gives you the annual number.

Then to get the monthly data, I look at the average distribution in the historical data over the past 20 years of what each month represented.  Okay?  And that gives us the monthly data.

So that is the process, is how we take all this data and boil it down to the numbers that you have before you.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Now, how is that done for the contract market?  Do you have a slight different approach -


MR. GARDINER:  No.  In the econometric models, where weather data is being used, I am using the -- for the greenhouse I am using the southern set of numbers, because most of the greenhouses are in the Leamington area.

And for the LCI, I believe I used --


DR. HIGGIN:  The whole franchise?

MR. GARDINER:  The whole franchise, correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's correct.  So -- but of course there is a distribution within the LCI; it is not all southern or northern.  They are probably weighted towards the south, but there is still some load volume in the north; correct?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. GARDINER:  In the LCI market, the majority of the customers are in the south.  Okay?

Now, the correlation in the weather data that are in the equations, the weather data is really picking up the seasonal pattern that you see in the demand, historic demand.

And I could take you to the appendix for the contract market, C1, tab 2, appendix A, and if you go to page 2 of 5, you will see figure 1.

And what the weather variable does in the model is it is picking up that seasonality.  Okay?

DR. HIGGIN:  Mm-hmm.  Okay.  Thank you.

My next question is with respect to how you verified or have verified the use of the airport, Pearson Airport data.

You describe that in J.C-2-4-1.  2-4-1.

You went through what with Mr. Aiken, so I don't want to cover that ground again, but I do have a follow-up question.

If you want the reference, you covered that at the transcript page 31, line 10 and following with Mr. Aiken.

My question was:  You were going to, then, provide the undertaking, J1.1, with the weightings.

My question is simply this:  What are those weightings?  Are they based on total volume or are they heat-sensitive volume?  Which is it?

MR. GARDINER:  It is based on the total volume for the region.

DR. HIGGIN:  But you are dealing with heating load here.  Why would you not use the heat-sensitive load, which you do know, for those areas?  Why would you not use that instead?

MR. GARDINER:  The weights -– okay.  The weights, they're annual numbers.  They're based on the total volumes.  When we established the weights, we looked at the total volumes.  Recognize we're looking at, you know --


DR. HIGGIN:  Sixteen stations.

MR. GARDINER:  -- 16 stations, 16 areas, and we are trying to bring that into our two regions.

Now, like, for example, in the north there are 10 stations, several of which are in different regions.  Okay?

In the north we have six sub-regions, if you wish.  There is an eastern, there is a western, there is Fort Frances, and what have you.

And as you will see from the response to J1, we take these weights for the northern region and we apply them, but -- how do I put this?  We could have simply averaged the 16, and we felt that was, to your point, maybe too crude.  So our next step was:  Okay.  Let's look at the volumes within the area, and the data we have at the total level is readily available, okay?  And from a practical point of view, we said, Okay, let's use the total volumes, and it will give Sudbury more weight than, say, Fort Francis.

DR. HIGGIN:  In the south, for example, it would give Sarnia more weight?

MR. GARDINER:  It would give, say, Hamilton more weight than, say, Chatham and Sarnia, yes.  But, again, they're only the volumes for the general service market.  We're not talking about the total volumes.

DR. HIGGIN:  No.  We understand the regression model only applies to the general service.

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So what I would like to know is:  What is that difference and is it material; and, that is, if instead of using total volumes you used the heat-sensitive volumes for the stations?

MR. GARDINER:  I don't see it as material, because essentially what we would be doing is calculating the weights not based on 100 percent of the volume, but on 80 percent of the volume.

So we would have taken all of the volumes, applied 80 percent to it, and then calculated the weights.

DR. HIGGIN:  So you're saying that the 80 percent is the correct number for the heat-sensitive portion of the volume?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  It is somewhere between 75 and 80 percent, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, I think this is, to my mind, still an area I would like to see the result of, and that is that if you could reproduce J1.1 with the heat-sensitive load, only, for those weather stations?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SMITH:  If I may, Madam Chair, with your indulgence, ask the witness to consider the volume of effort required to do that.  J1.1 asked to produce information that was already available.  This is to produce a new model, a new forecast.  I mean, you had my earlier submissions in respect to Mr. Brett's comments, so I do --


MS. HARE:  I actually was going to ask that of the witnesses, as to how much work this would involve, because I am somewhat interested in Dr. Higgin's line of thinking and I am surprised that you used sort of rule of thumb of 80 percent.

It may be right.  I don't know.  But it strikes me -- would it be 80 percent in each region, or would it vary depending on the mix of customers in the area?

MR. GARDINER:  Madam Chair, that is why I said 75 to 80.  The weights were established in the mid '90s, okay?  We don't change the weight, because we want the yardstick to remain the same, okay?

The data to do the request, to break out the heat from the total, I don't have.

DR. HIGGIN:  Excuse me.  The company, though, when you present for each of the rate classes, you have the actual uses for each of those general service classes.  So those data show whether it is water heating, et cetera, and the volumes associated with that.

You do have those data.  I mean, I have seen those data in your evidence.

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.  It is a considerable amount of work to do.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, okay.

MR. GARDINER:  And I don't see the materiality, because you would be shifting the weights minutely.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. GARDINER:  I mean, the relative position of, say, Sarnia to Hamilton has not changed dramatically, and the key point was to establish the weight to get some recognition of some regional variation.  That was the main point, because the other alternative was to simply average the numbers.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe I can say this.  We're going to be here for some time.  If the Board is interested, perhaps we can consider the request further and see what we can do, if the Board wants it.  I mean, I do take the witness's comment that this is a volume of work.


I take, Madam Chair, your comment that you are interested in it, and we are talking about the general service market econometric model, so it is a heat-sensitive load already.

So I think the premise may be a bit off, which is why the witness is having some trouble, but if you want us to further reflect on it, we would be happy to do that.

MS. HARE:  What I think would be advisable is for the witnesses to confer over the break and come back.  You know, at the end of the day, it may not be material.  And so it may be a lot of work, but at this point we don't know.

And the other thing is, when I hear that you last established the weights in the '90s, haven't things changed since then?  Like, how much confidence do you have that those are still valid?

MR. GARDINER:  Madam Chair, the issue of setting the weight is similar to the setting the weight, say, in the price index.

If you change the weights over time, then the, say, northern normal and southern normal in 2011 isn't the same as it is in 1996.

So you have to establish the basket, and that was picking the point in 1999 -- in the mid '90s, I should say.

MS. TAYLOR:  Well, I'm not going to argue with you, but it is well known, for instance, when we're calculating inflation baskets, the basket has changed considerably over the last ten to 15 years.  So it is not uncommon, although potentially statistically not as helpful, but baskets do quite frequently change for this type of analytical work.

So, again, I don't think we know the materiality at this point.

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we go back and reflect on it, and we will certainly come back and try to assist the Board with the information we can get?

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  So, Dr. Higgin, if you could carry on.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Thank you.

So I would like to go back to that one point.  That was the correlation of Pearson and the weighted average heating degree days.

Perhaps we could just look at that point, the correlation, and I think Mr. Buonaguro can help me with pulling up the Excel file that you provided.  That's the 2013 region data file, April 2012.

You see there at columns 4, F through I, those are the correlations that you have provided; correct?

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So that's what we were looking at as the base line.  And what my final question on this topic is:  Has Union recently studied various regressions forecasting heating degree days based on those weather stations - that's the six in the south and the ten in the north - and using those data to do regressions and try different trends?

As you would remember, Enbridge has now moved to a three-region zone forecast based on actual weather stations.  So that's where I am going in asking that question.  Have you done that work recently?

MR. GARDINER:  No, we have not.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  That's my last questions on that topic.  Thank you.

I would like to move on, now, to a couple of follow-up questions on the commercial forecast and the NAC, and we could perhaps start by turning up the graph, the famous graph.  The reference is C1, T1, page 25, figure 8.

We will wait for that to come up.  That is the industrial, Mr. Buonaguro.  Sorry, I have that wrong.  It must be figure 8.  No, it must be the 7.  Sorry, I've got that wrong.  There we are, figure 7.

So you discussed this yesterday again with Mr. Brett.  So let's just look at the results for 2011, and perhaps you could pull up the Excel file, which is the 2013 region results file, the actual results file.

And if you could go to, as is highlighted here, line 314, and at columns D, E and F, we see that residual there in that highlighted portion.  Okay?  That's the 700.

Now, the point is I would like to -- so you had some explanations yesterday, and I am not going to ask all of those questions again, but it is the largest in the whole data set and it is the largest residual that has ever occurred.  Okay?

So is there anything -- having thought about that, is there anything you would like to add at this point?  Because I am going to move on and then talk about the consequences of that for the 2013 forecast.

MR. GARDINER:  As I discussed yesterday and as we provided in an interrogatory where we did the variance analysis for 2011, which is in reference J.C-1-2-4, page 3, there is a table there for 2011.

And the consolidated commercial market is analyzed for the NAC variance, and the other is the residual for that year.  Because the reference that we were talking about earlier is the 2001 update set of regressions, whereas this NAC variance is based on the original regressions that were prepared a year earlier.  Okay?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I understand.

MR. GARDINER:  So the concept of the other residual is -- I can't explain that.  My model has monthly heating degree-days, explaining heating load.  I have a fall weather variable to explain a variation in weather that takes place in the fall, which is agriculturally related.  And then I have DSM, because we apply DSM to the results to come up with our final forecast.

And then I have this variance, which is unexplained.  It is the residual.

DR. HIGGIN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. GARDINER:  And it -- when I reran the regressions, given the model, not surprisingly in 2011 the 700 that we saw on the table results.

So it is a residual.  I can't explain it, but as I said yesterday, when I look at my year-to-date data, I am coming down from the 17,000.  Okay?

As I explained in -- I think if you look at J.C-1-2-4, page 2 of 3, you know, by April it was down below 16,500.

And we're talking about 2013.  So given -- to me, I look at the residual as high usage.  It is a spike; they happen.  And I have no other model before me to explain the usage, so I stand by my forecast.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that's -- I think you just answered the question:  Did you update the 2013 forecast as a result?  And it is shown as 15,940, which is 106 cubic metres lower than the actual 2011.  Did you update that?

MR. GARDINER:  Well, in preparing the responses to the interrogatory, Mr. Aiken did ask us to redo the whole exercise, which we did.  And –

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I have that.  I was going to come to that.

MR. GARDINER:  And in that set of numbers, there are - there are estimates, and we provided that in the Excel file that you alluded to.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. GARDINER:  And so there are new estimates for the commercial market.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So perhaps we could look at that and go to that particular schedule that you provided to Mr. Aiken.  That's J.C-1-2-6, if you could look at that one.

MR. GARDINER:  I have it.

DR. HIGGIN:  So as you just stated, this seems to me to be an update to the forecast as requested, and the numbers, for example, for the commercial sector have been updated.  I am looking at rates M1, M2, rate 1 –- or 01, and 10.

So also others have been, but I am just focussing right now on the commercial.

So basically, what I would like to understand here is what was the basis of that particular update?  How did you come up with those particular forecasts, amendments, that are shown in that schedule A?  And B, are they your -- now your forecast?

MR. GARDINER:  Mr. Higgin, to prepare the update that you see on J.C-1-2-5, I took the forecast equation that we had in the original.  I reran the regressions to include all of the 2011 data.

So I haven't changed my model.

DR. HIGGIN:  No, of course.

MR. GARDINER:  Or the way I went from the consolidated to the regions to the individual rate classes.  So it is the same process.

All I did is, instead of running the regression up to 2010, I ran it to the end of 2011.

From that, new, slightly different regression coefficients came out, and then they were used to prepare the estimates that you see in the table.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. GARDINER:  So it is the same tool, same process.  I am just updating, adding one more year of data to come up with the estimates.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So I understand now the methodology.

The second question was:  Is this now your forecast?

MR. GARDINER:  No, it is not, because when I look at the variation in total, in total we ended up with a result that is 0.2 percent different from the original evidence.  That's the total throughput.

And as shown on page 3 of 3 in J.C-1-2-5, you can see the difference in the commercial market, when you add them all up, is 0.1.

Union Gas, when we look at a forecast, an econometric forecast, we recognize that plus or minus two percent is sort of the range of the estimate.  So I am well within the forecast range.

So as stated in the -- I believe I stated this in the interrogatory.  Here are the numbers.  Yes, they're different.  There are small differences.  They're within forecasting accuracy.  So I stand by my forecast.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Just one supplementary question.

Did you update the explanatory variables when you did that?


MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  All of them.

DR. HIGGIN:  All of them?  Okay.

So you are still -- so Union is still relying on the previous forecast, which would be the updated numbers that are shown, for example, in J.C-1-2-1.  That's -- if you look at that.

So you are relying on those as the basis of calculating the revenue, the revenue requirement and so on.  So is that how we understand your response?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, that is correct, Mr. Higgin.  On J.C-1-2-1, you have the original demand forecast for '13, and all we did to the table is inserted the 2011 actuals to replace the estimates for 2011.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions on that topic.

And I will just go to my final topic, and that is about the use of true-ups.

I don't want to get into great detail, but just take it as read that as part of the settlement, average use true-ups were applied for certain classes during the IRM period.  You are aware of that?

MR. SMITH:  Maybe this will assist.  Dr. Higgin is referring to the settlement in the 2007-0606 matter.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Yes, it is.  Correct.  Sorry, I should have clarified.  Thank you.

And then for every year after the -- there was an account set up, the average use true-up variance account, and then a calculation was made.  I was just going to ask a couple of questions about that.  First of all, can you briefly summarize which classes were subject to that true-up, if you know?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  The average use factor, which is part of the annual rate-setting, it affects the rate M1 -- rate M1 and M2, and rate 01 and rate 10.

DR. HIGGIN:  So it is primarily the residential classes, small volume classes?

MR. GARDINER:  It is the small volume classes.  The true-up is at the rate class level.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. GARDINER:  So there are -- it is primarily residential, but there are commercial and industrial customers in each rate.

DR. HIGGIN:  Do you have any idea how much, approximately, of the total volume in revenue was true-up - trued up through that mechanism?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GARDINER:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question, please?

DR. HIGGIN:  I'm just trying to know -- you mentioned the rate classes.

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  What would that represent in terms of the total volume forecast that was subject to that particular mechanism?  I will go into that in a minute.  It is not that -- it's a true-up for volume, but not for weather; right?  It does not take account of the weather?

MR. GARDINER:  Well, okay.  The average use factor deferral account is a rate adjustment deferral mechanism, okay?  It's not part of the forecast.

DR. HIGGIN:  No.

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.  So the numbers that you see, that we have been discussing on the tables, have no AU in them, okay?

The principal concept of the AU is a target is set based on a three-year average from two years ago, and the actuals come in.  They're weather-normalized according to the 2007 weather-normal that is in the original 2007 evidence, and the number of customers are the 2007 evidence, okay?

So there is a mathematical logic in calculating the numbers, and the idea of the deferral account is to say, Well, at the beginning of the year, we set the rate based on the target, which is the three-year average.  We follow it, and then if we're not at the target, there is a variance, and that shows up as a deferral account amount, which is either paid back to the customer or collected from the customer.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Now would a mechanism like that, if applied to those rate classes, perhaps reduce some of the debates that go on around forecasting, if that was in place?

MR. GARDINER:  Well, under the current IR framework, we have an AU.  It is in place.  2012 is the final year of the AU.  It is working.  It is in place.  It's meant for rate-setting.

The forecast is necessary to come up with revenues, but also identify gas supply and other operating requirements, like numbers of customers.  They're two different mechanisms.

DR. HIGGIN:  It doesn't replace the forecast, no, but it does, from a ratepayer perspective and a company perspective, tend to keep people, quotes, whole for those classes and that volume?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GARDINER:  Mr. Higgin, I explained to you the mechanisms of it, but we're getting into a question that is sort of out of my domain.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Perhaps I could ask Mr. Smith.  Questions regarding the answers that were made, for example, on JDV 421, 431, and so on, about the average use and its discontinuation for 2013, where should I pose those questions, please?

MR. SMITH:  The finance panel, which is panel 5.

DR. HIGGIN:  So you want to -- okay.  But the point I was trying to make, Madam Chair, was simply that it is a mechanism that has been used and does have certain effects that try to mitigate the debate over forecast for at least the general service.  That was the point I was trying to -- well, I will follow up with any other questions with respect to the deferral account.

Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, are you next?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.  Perhaps if you could give me an indication of when you intend to break for the morning?

MS. HARE:  Eleven would be good.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Eleven, okay.  Thank you.  Good morning, panel.

I am just going to follow up, briefly, on Dr. Higgin's last topic.  I had some questions on the settlement proposal from the 0606 proceeding, and I put up the actual section here, which talks about how average use is going to be reflected throughout the IRM period - do you see that - to refresh your memory.

Now, my only question in follow-up is this:  If you were to essentially extend the treatment of average use that was used during the IRM into the test year in terms of forecasting the decline in average use, instead of doing what you have proposed, what would be the effect on the revenue deficiency?

I am assuming that is something that you have to do by way of undertaking, but...

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GARDINER:  If the average use factor deferral account continued into 2013, it would depend on the actuals, okay, and I don't have numbers for 2013, and we would only know in January 2014 what the amounts are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I can interrupt, because I think -- I understand what you're saying and I think you have misinterpreted my question.

I understand that in the settlement proposal there are two things going on.  There's a forecast for the upcoming year in the IRM, and then there is a deferral account to capture the variance from actual.  I am only asking about the first part, which is, if you were to extend this methodology for forecasting the next year's, in this case, 2013 average use factor, if we can call it that, how would that affect the forecast for 2013?

Then there is a second question about what happens in 2014 when you true up, if you are going to use a deferral account to true it up.

I am only focussing on the first part, which is, if you were only to do this - and I am pointing at the screen, which is the way in which the next year's forecast is going to be adjusted to reflect average use - if you were to do that for 2013, what would -- how would that affect the revenue deficiency?

MR. GARDINER:  Well, it doesn't affect the forecast that we're talking about.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry, but during the IRM period, every year, when setting rates, the forecast was adjusted to reflect a decline in average use based on the past three years' history; correct?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you could, in theory, do that for 2013 in the same way that you did it for 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and 2008; correct?  I am asking you to pretend that 2013 was year 6 of the IRM.  How would your load forecast change relative to 2012, and how is that different in terms of revenue deficiency relative to what is in the application?

MR. GARDINER:  I don't know.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that is why I assumed that you would have to do it by way of undertaking.  Can you take that undertaking?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just one minute.

I do have a -- well, I am not going to make the same observation, that this obviously could have been asked.  It clearly could have been.

There is a data constraint that is apparent even to me, in that the settlement agreement requires actual data for the trailing three years, which we don't have.

I suppose we could run the model for 2013 with the data that we have, recognizing that it is not going to be the way in which the actual model would have -- would work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I may interrupt, I don't think that is precisely true, because of the way it has been happening in the previous years.

For example, rates have been set for 2012, if I am not mistaken, but they would have been set prior to the end of 2011, which means that the three years that were used would have been 2009 -- 2008, 2009 and 2010.  In this case, it would be 2009, 2010, 2011, if you were to continue the mechanism on as if this was year 6.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I don't think it is -– well, anyway, so if that is fine -- it is fine that the undertaking will be...

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO CALCULATE THE LOAD FORECAST AND REVENUE DEFICIENCY FOR 2013 AS THOUGH IT WERE YEAR 6 OF THE IRM PERIOD


MR. BUONAGURO:  In terms of the result I am looking for, I am just trying to figure out -- obviously you'll have the specifics of how it affects the forecast for 2013.  And in addition, I want to know how it changes the revenue deficiency.

So I think based on the settlement we have in front of us now, the revenue deficiency is something in the order of $15-something million.  I don't have the exact figure.

How does that change?  I want that as part of the answer.  Okay?  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Is that not a lot of work?

MR. SMITH:  Well, that would be a separate question.  I think that we can provide an estimate with respect to the second number.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are all of my average use questions.  So that is the trade-off.

I only have one area of questioning, although it is not insignificant.  It is the weather methodology.

And just in terms of positioning the weather methodology issue, my understanding from the evidence and interrogatory responses is that, in terms of a revenue deficiency impact, the change that the company is proposing, going from a 55:45 split to the 100 percent, 20-year declining trend is approximately $7 million in deficiency?

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, just as I have been listening to the -- some of the history, my understanding from the 2003 case, I will call it, the EB -- sorry.  This is before EB.  RP-2003-0063 decision.  That actual decision, I believe the right word would be "authorized" a 50-50 split between the 30-year trend and 20-year trend; is that correct?

MR. GARDINER:  No, that is not correct.  The original split was 70-30, and then we were allowed to change the blend by five percentage points.  And that is how we ended up at 55:45.  Per each year we could change the blend.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But wasn't it with an end point of 50-50?  Have I got that wrong?

I think what happened -- if I could just refresh your memory -- I think that it was set at 55:45 in 2007, because at five-year increments, that's where you would have been in 2007?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You haven't had a proceeding in which -- theoretically you haven't had a proceeding yet which would have done the last step, which would have been 50-50; does that sound right?

MR. GARDINER:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you give me the impact, if you were to go to 50-50?  So if we have a $7 million deficiency embedded in the current total deficiency of around $50 million (sic), if you were to, instead of what you're proposing, go to a 50-50 blend, I would like to know what that impact would be.  And presumably it would decrease the deficiency relative to what you are asking for.

MR. GARDINER:  I do not have figures to tell you what it does to the deficiency.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You can't do that by way of undertaking?  I think I can do an envelope approach, but I would prefer you do it.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO CALCULATE THE IMPACT OF A REVENUE DEFICIENCY WITH A 50-50 BLEND

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  If I may correct the record.

Mr. Buonaguro was talking about the revenue deficiency, the total revenue deficiency now before us -- so this would be at line 18 of the transcript on this page -- we've got 50 million, is the quoted number, and I believe it is 15 million.

MR. SMITH:  No, no.  It is 55.  It is 50 -- 55 million.

MS. TAYLOR:  We will need to clean up the transcript in this section to reflect the deficiency, please.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I have been over-approximating.  I had in my head somewhere around 50, 5-0, and thank you for clarifying.  I am going to make a note to say it should be 55.

MR. SMITH:  It is reflected in the settlement agreement, dated June --


MS. TAYLOR:  It is just the record here is a little mixed up now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I am going to take you to Exhibit J.C-2-4-1, which is a VECC interrogatory where we asked a series of questions about the weather methodology.

Actually, when I do this for myself I am slower than when I do it for other people.  Sorry.

Now, in this interrogatory, you were asked about the assumptions underpinning your model, your investigations of possible alternative models or estimators other than the 30-year average and the 55:45 blend, and diagnostic tests for violations of standard assumptions.

In short -- and I've highlighted part (c) of the response -- if I can summarize, you said that you didn't do any of these things because you only looked for accuracy among the three models as measured by the root mean squared error, RMSE.  In this regard, the 20-year trend was better than the 30-year average and 55:45 blend.

Is that a fair summary?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now -- and I think you have been talking about this with Mr. –- or, sorry, Dr. Higgin, but on page 86 of the technical conference transcript from day 1 -- and I can pull that up for you -- starting at line 15, you were asked about how you identify a structural shift beginning 2008.

And basically, you stated that you looked at the residuals and if they were large -- in this case, two and a half times the standard error -- that usually indicates a structural shift.  Is that a fair summary of your answer there?

MR. GARDINER:  That is what I did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, when we're talking about heating degree-day data, we're dealing with time series data; is that correct?

MR. GARDINER:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that there are statistical tests available to detect structural change in time series data?

MR. GARDINER:  There are, but we're talking about weather.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?

MR. GARDINER:  The setting of the normal for weather is to come up with a method that is accurate, that is simple.

We're dealing with weather.  It is not a cause-effect relationship like demand, where, you know, if it's -- price goes up, consumption goes down.

The weather-normal is not a climate model.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry, I interrupted you.

MR. GARDINER:  The 20-year declining trend is a replacement of an average.  A trend is an average with a slope.

When tested against the current blend, the 30-year average, and back in 2004 tested against other models, it was more symmetric, more accurate, simpler to do.  That is what the weather-normal is.

So as we answered in the response to the interrogatory, it is not about -- it's not based on the merits of how strong the statistical results are.  Is it symmetric, and relatively -- is it more accurate?

Now, we do use statistics to do the measurement of accuracy.  However, it is not based on, you know, I could make the fit better if I added this or added that.  We're dealing with weather.  Okay?

I am not a climatologist.  The idea is not to have a climatology model to set the normal.  The concept is there's a change in the weather –- in long run climatic change, whatever you -- you know, global warming.  It is getting warmer.  How do we represent that in a weather-normal that is used in a demand equation?

So we went through the exercise in 2004.  The Board nodded its head and gave us a blend and increased the portion of the 20-year trend.  And now when we do the exercise again and I say:  Well, you know, compare the two.  Over the last eight years, the 20-year trend is more symmetric and more accurate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Just to summarize, I asked you if heating degree data, which is what you're dealing with here, is a time series data.  You agreed with me.

I asked you if there were statistical tests available to detect structural change in time series data.  I believe you agreed with me, but then -- and your answer is on the record.  You're saying -- I think you are agreeing you didn't do any of that kind of statistical analysis, and then you gave us an explanation for why you didn't do it.  Is that fair?

MR. GARDINER:  I didn't do the statistical analysis because I didn't feel it was appropriate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I won't argue with you about whether or not the Board gave you a nod to do one thing or another.  I put the decision in the record.  Actually, that is something I should do technically before I go, and this would be a good time to break, in any event.

I did provide the RP-2003-0063 decision in its entirety in electronic form.  I have made copies of the excerpts and highlighted the excerpts for the parties, which are relevant to weather normalization in terms of how it was treated in the decision.

I also included an extract of the evidence from that proceeding at Exhibit C1, tab 4 in its entirety, and I have included those together in a printout, the extract from the decision and the extract from the evidence.  So perhaps I should get an exhibit number.

MS. HARE:  An exhibit number, please.  Do we have copies of all of that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I gave them copies.

MR. MILLAR:  Where did you put those, Mr. Buonaguro?

[Laughter]

MR. BUONAGURO:  They were there yesterday.  I have more copies.  We can do that at the break.  That's fine.  We can sort that out over the break.  I just need an exhibit number.

MR. MILLAR:  It will be Exhibit K2.1, and I think we are close to the break, anyway.  We will find it.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think we are right on the break.

MS. HARE:  Why don't we take our break now until 11:20, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:02 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:32 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Smith?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, if I just may raise one preliminary matter, we had had considerable back and forth about the econometric model, and there had been a request for an undertaking, which I believe we satisfied on the record.

I believe, on further reflection, there may have been one or two or perhaps slightly more than that customers who are ground-up who find their way into rate 20, which I believe we advised was an econometric model.

It may just be easier at this stage for us to offer the undertaking so that we have what Member Taylor asked for, which is in one spot, clearly identified and disaggregated, econometric versus ground-up.

I offer that for consideration.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Eighty-three customers in that case, or in that range.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Whatever the number is, we will identify that, but I believe the record will reflect that Ms. Van Der Paelt had said rate 20 was econometric.  I believe there are a couple of customers who may have switched, so it is not a precise rate class break the way we had indicated.

I just want to make sure that we have what is useful to you.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Then there was the undertaking that Dr. Higgin asked --


MR. SMITH:  We will do that.  We will make that available.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  So to be clear, the first undertaking, that is a new undertaking, Mr. Smith?  We haven't already given that a number?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, that would be a new undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  So that will be J2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  FOR RATE 20, TO PROVIDE MODEL FOR IDENTIFIED AND DISAGGREGATED, ECONOMETRIC VERSUS GROUND-UP


MR. MILLAR:  Then, Mr. Higgin, could we -- that's a new one, as well?

DR. HIGGIN:  We haven't given that a number yet.  It needs a number.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be J2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO REPRODUCE J1.1 USING THE HEAT-SENSITIVE LOAD

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Buonaguro, then, can you continue, please?
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Thank you.

Before I forget, you mentioned earlier this morning receiving advice from external consultants, in terms of developing the weather methodology.

I am assuming that you are referring to advice back in the 2003 proceeding, and not specifically in this proceeding; is that correct?

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  I just wanted to make sure.

Now, can you tell me, do you believe that weather data exhibits a constant mean?

MR. GARDINER:  If by "mean" you mean a simple average, as the data shows, the average changes over time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the answer is no?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Do you believe that -- I think you answered this, but I am going to ask -- do you believe that weather data exhibits constant variance?  I think that is...

MR. GARDINER:  No, it does not.  It is very variable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So, for example, if I take you to the RP-2003-0063 Decision as a reference point, and this is paragraph 134 of the decision, part of the decision says:

"Although Union agreed that the data in evidence showed increasing variability over time, i.e., the data may exhibit heteroskedasticity, Union stated it had not statistically tested for heteroskedasticity."

My understanding from that is that, certainly back at the time of this decision, Union agreed that there may be or there was heteroskedasticity, which means that whether - the data that you are dealing with has the attribute of increasing variance with time; is that correct?

MR. GARDINER:  That is what we found in 2004.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, has that changed?

MR. GARDINER:  I don't know.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So are we up -- sorry, you don't know if -- at this time, whether the data that you are dealing with continues to exhibit heteroskedasticity?

MS. HARE:  Did you practice that, Mr. Buonaguro?

[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't.  I didn't.  I should have hired a jazz vocalist to come in here and say it for me every -- every time it comes up.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  A ventriloquist.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I did, however, give the spelling to the reporter in advance.  Anyway, sorry, I am sidetracked.

I asked you if that continued to be the case now and you said you don't know.

MR. GARDINER:  I don't know, because I haven't tested for it, no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, if a statistical test showed the presence of heteroskedasticity, do you agree that an application of generalized least squares would be more appropriate than ordinary least squares, which is what you have used.

MR. GARDINER:  No, I don't agree.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you like to -- I am actually going to invite you to expound on your answer.  I know I am not supposed to do that, but...

MR. GARDINER:  As was discussed in the former rate case, and what I mentioned earlier today, the normal is -- we're trying to get a normal that reflects the fact that the weather is getting warmer.  The exercise was not to find a more sophisticated statistical method.  Okay?

The approach -- and we said that it is not on the merits of the statistical analysis and the models.  It's we had a 30-year average.  We knew it was getting warmer.  We turned it into a trend line, which is an average, with a slope.  When measured against the actual weather, it gave us symmetry, because by design, linear -- a trend line from a linear square will go through the data.

So this issue of did you test the heteroskedasticity and others, yes, when you are looking at demand equations, you test for that.  And we do.

But when we're developing the weather-normal, we're trying to come up with a method that is symmetric.  The 30-year average isn't.  The blended method is more symmetric than the 30-year average.  But the best one is the 20-year trend.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  It seems to me that when you're answering these questions about heteroskedasticity, you keep going to the results of what you have done to justify not doing what I am expecting would be normal statistical analysis.  That is what it sounds like it me.

Can you comment on that?

MR. GARDINER:  For what we're trying to do, measuring for heteroskedasticity isn't appropriate.  It doesn't matter.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In this particular case?

MR. GARDINER:  In this particular case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Would you agree that one assumption underpinning the regression techniques that you used, specifically the ordinary least squares, is that variance of the disturbance or error term is constant?

MR. GARDINER:  We use regression techniques to set the trend line.  It is better than visually drawing a line through the data, which has sometimes been referred to as the visual least squares.

We have used ordinary least squares because it is a method to establish the trend lines of the data.  That is the only reason we use that method.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So are you saying that you have not -- as a result of using that method, assuming that the disturbance or error term is constant?

MR. GARDINER:  I am ignoring that, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are making an assumption but you are not concerned about it?

MR. GARDINER:  I am not concerned about it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Do you agree that if you apply standard linear regression techniques to data that exhibits non-constant variance or heteroskedasticity -- I should point to you and you should say that word for me -- the standard regression method is inefficient, in the sense that some other unbiased estimation methods would produce estimators with smaller sampling variances?

MR. GARDINER:  We are trying to measure weather, which is very variable.  It changes directions.  We know, since the late '80s that it has been getting warmer.  I know I am repeating the epistle, but because of idea of simplicity to come up with a normal, and also something that basically will be symmetric, we don't go to sophisticated, complex statistical analysis that we would have to change three years later because of the variations in the changes, okay?  That's -- because weather -- weather, annual weather, which is the basis of the analysis, is changing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  If I understood you correctly, I think you agree with the statement in general, but, again, you are telling me -- I don't want to say you don't care, but for the purposes of what you are doing, it doesn't matter to you?

MR. GARDINER:  Obviously I care.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's why I didn't want to say that.  I shouldn't have said it by saying I am not going to say it, but -- sorry.  I think the general -- I think the general proposition, I think it is -- I ask you because I think it is generally true, and most people would agree with it.  At least most people who understood the question would agree with it.

But you're telling me that the purpose for what you're doing it, it doesn't matter?

MR. GARDINER:  I'm saying that we...

It is about how well the method tracks the weather, how accurate it is compared to the other methods, and also is it simple to administer?  Is it sustainable?

The thing about when you start increasing the sophistication of the statistical technique to find that line is that two or three years later, you go, Oh, the dummy variables don't work anymore.  Maybe I have to add some other ones.  Okay?

So then you start getting complexity and you have issues of understanding, okay, when you have to explain, Okay, the normal was this, but I had to change the model and what have you.

Everyone understands averages.  Trend lines are also averages.  It is just that they have a slope and they go through the data.  And when we did the analysis back in 2004, we found the symmetry and accuracy, and then we found, you know, it is simple and sustainable.  We don't have to reset the complex equation for weather-normals two years later because, Hey, the weather did something funny.

So it is a time series.  When you do a trend line, you're doing time series against time.  You know, the patterns in weather on an annual basis, there is a general trend towards warming, but it is not a cyclical, repeatable pattern, so that's why we keep it simple.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  I have more questions kind of like that one.  I think I've got the general tone of your answer to what they will be to the rest of them, so I will try to skip them.

I am going to take you to page 88 of the transcript of the technical conference from -- I think it May 31st.  I have it on the screen.  I have highlighted the relevant text here on the screen.

Here you are talking about -- at line 21, you're talking about how you shortened time spans as a way to deal with auto-correlation and non-constant variance.

Could you elaborate on how -- as to how exactly you shortened the time spans?

MR. GARDINER:  Well, in the residential rate 01 model, we shortened the time spans starting -- to start in '94.  We used to start in '91.  That is an example of practical application of where we change the time span of analysis to make the regression model equation sound.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  You go on to state here that:
"...we look for the heteroskedasticity in the residuals, and we don't want to see it and we don't."


Again, this is a visual check; correct?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  We do visual checks.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And it is only on the 20 years' data used for the trend applicable to the 2013 set; correct?

MR. GARDINER:  In the demand equations, we look at the residual plots.  We do Durbin-Watson statistical analysis on that for auto-correlation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But it is for the one set of data, the 2013 data?  I think, it is only in the 20 years' data used for the trend applicable to 2013 reset?

MR. GARDINER:  Can you clarify that?  Are we talking about weather or are we talking about cubic metres?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, you said, when looking for heteroskedasticity in the residuals, you did a visual check.  You looked and you didn't see it.  I'm saying, when you did that, you did it for the one set of data, the data that underpins the particular forecast, the 2013 forecast?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You didn't do it in multiple time data sets to check to see whether --


MR. GARDINER:  We look at, for example, the residential rate 01 use and volume equations, which are spanned from -- in the original evidence, from '94 to the end of 2010.  So that is January to December, over that period of time.

We look at the residuals.  We check for heteroskedasticity.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that there are a number of formal statistical tests for non-constant variance for heteroskedasticity?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But my understanding is you didn't perform any in this case; is that correct?

MR. GARDINER:  We check on the demand equations.  We check for heteroskedasticity, auto-correlation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which tests did you use, the formal statistical tests?

MR. GARDINER:  We take the Durbin-Watson.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.  We have looked at the Durbin-Watson 'h', depending on what is in the model.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am just trying to be clear, because on which -- to what were those tests applied, because it sounded like you were qualifying where exactly they were applied?

MR. GARDINER:  When we do the demand equations, we go through the battery of tests to make sure the equation is statistically sound.  So we look for auto-correlation.  We look at the residuals to see if there is a pattern in the residuals.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, just briefly, I wanted to take a look at the 2003 evidence.  So this is Exhibit C1, tab 4; from RP-2003-0063, I should say.  I am looking at page 5 of 7.  This is table 1 for that evidence.  Do you see that on the screen?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, this is included in Exhibit K2.1, which was marked today.

So this table, this essentially is the 2004 version of the table that we will look at in a second in the new evidence.  So this is the, quote, "multi-attribute ranking of weather normalization methods".

Looking from here, I can see that at that time you compared one, two, three, four, five, six, seven different methodologies for weather?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then you can see across the top there were one, two, three, four, five six -- I think seven different attribute rankings based on -- sorry, different tests to test accuracy, symmetry, stability, sustainability and simplicity.  Is that fair?

MR. GARDINER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I was going to take you through some of the details of this, but I think they're somewhat self-evident.

I would, though, go to -- I would suggest or put to you that in the current proceeding there is only three methodologies, obviously.  There is the 30-year average, the current 55:45 blend and the 20-year trend that are being compared, as opposed to the seven that are in here?

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then there are -- I can take you to table 1 from the current evidence, but essentially there's fewer specific tests.

So, for example, for accuracy in 2004 you tested using RMSE and MAPE, whereas for this proceeding you only tested, I believe it is for RMSE?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  The root mean square error?  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Then also one of the differences between what you did in 2004 and the current application was weighting.

In 2004, you had the one, two, three, four, five different attributes and you had differently weighted them, including, I think, the most –- the highest weighted one was symmetry in that case, whereas in this case accuracy is the one dominant attribute that you are testing for; is that fair?

MR. GARDINER:  Accuracy is a strong factor, but as the charts show in the evidence, the 20-year trend method is more symmetric than the other two.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you, but I am just -- comparing to the last time, symmetry was heavily weighted and -- the most heavily weighted, whereas in this proceeding it was accuracy is the most heavily weighted attribute.

I think that is clear on the face of the two tables, and generally consistent with your evidence as to why you are picking the 20-year trend?

MR. GARDINER:  In the evidence, if I look at C1, tab 5, page 6 of 7, table 1, and in an interrogatory there is an update of this table, and it shows the same results.

Maybe the approach of how to show the results is different.

In 2004, we had a table and we did a symmetry in a table.

This year, instead of giving you a table, I gave you charts, so you could see it.

So by seeing it, that it is symmetric, then I said:  Okay, how do I tell people that it is more accurate?  And the other -- yes, more accurate, and the standard deviation is stability, and that is what table 1 shows you.

So the presentation changed.  Instead of it being completely tabular, I said:  Okay, I will give you accuracy in a table and I will let you see it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I don't want to belabour the point, but you would agree with me that, for example, you dropped the weighting of different attributes and you are focussing on accuracy?

MR. GARDINER:  And symmetry, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  That's fine.

Just lastly, we don't know, I don't think, in the evidence in this case, how the other methodologies that were tested in 2004 would fare or had fared against any number of tests, because you haven't done any analysis; is that correct?

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.  Because we didn't test them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Shepherd or Mr. Thompson, who is next?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think I have drawn the next stick.

Madam Chair, we have a small package of materials, which I think -- I provided copies to Board Staff.

MS. HARE:  Give them an exhibit number, then.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  This will be K2.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  SEC COMPENDIUM OF CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, you will have seen I placed copies of 2.1 at the dais, so you should have that.

MS. HARE:  Ye, we have 2.1.  We don't have 2.2.

MR. MILLAR:  2.2 I am marking right now, and that is the School Energy Coalition cross-examination materials.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Witnesses, my name is Jay Shepherd.  I represent School Energy Coalition.  I don't know whether I know all three of you, but...

And whereas Mr. Buonaguro asked you a whole lot of technical questions, I don't understand any of that stuff, so I am going to ask you way simpler questions.

I want to start with a simple chart on page 2 of Exhibit K2.2 that has just been provided to you.  And this is a representation of a time series of data, and I am just -- there is no underlying magic to it.  It is just a shape.

Because I just want to ask a couple of questions.

It is true, isn't it, that depending on whether -- if you wanted to predict what's the next number in this series, you would have to determine what tests you use on this series of data, right?

MR. GARDINER:  I have to specify the period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So if you used a 20-year trend on this, then the next one would be going up.  It would actually be 102 on this chart, wouldn't it?

I am not asking you to calculate it.  It would be going up, right?

MR. GARDINER:  If the 20 years was from the midpoint where the V, the bottom of the V to the end, and that was the 20 years, the 20 years would go up.

If it was the front part, it would go down.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, exactly.  So, in fact, in year 20 if you predicted, you would actually predict wrong, because it is changing direction, right?

MR. GARDINER:  There would be a variance, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, of course.  And if you looked at the whole 40 years, you would say:  Well, there's not going to be any statistical significance to a trend here.  There is no trend, in fact.  And you would only, then, be able to use an average, right?

Because there is no pattern here that would allow you to predict over 40 years what the next number is, right?

MR. GARDINER:  If the span was the full 40 years, you are correct, it would be -- a trend line would be on the 80 line, basically.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There wouldn't actually be a trend, right?  Because it would not be a significant trend?

MR. GARDINER:  The trend would be the average.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  Okay.

So then -- and without knowing anything about the underlying data, you have no way of knowing what the best way is to test for what the next number is in this series, do you?  You have to know something about the real world this is representing to know how to test it, right?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then let's go to the transcript for Tuesday.

You see the first set of pages is 35 through 38, and if you look at page 4 of our material, page 36 of the transcript, Mr. Aiken is asking you about the subcomponents of the 20 years you tested.  And you said at line 16:
 "So it's not picking periods of time."

And you emphasize you started with the 20-year number.  Do you see that?

MR. GARDINER:  I have line 16, yes, in front of me, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, on the next page, you say:
"But you are picking a period."

And if you go to line 12:

"The concept is not to look at patterns within certain periods of time."

Do you see that?

MR. GARDINER:  What page are you on, sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The next page.  Line 12 of the next page:

"The concept is not to look at patterns within certain periods of time."

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I see that.

MS. HARE:  Could you give us the page number, please?  Oh, we're on page 37.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Page 5 of the materials, page 37 of the transcript.

Do you see that?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in fact, that is exactly what you're doing, isn't it?  You are trying to look for a pattern within a period of time, right?  That is what a trend is?

MR. GARDINER:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's why you use a time series, because that time series has a direction, you think has a direction?

MR. GARDINER:  Right.  And what we did in 2004 and repeated this year is we looked at the trend that was established in 1985 -- so going back to 65 -- and repeated that process 26 times.

We tested the trend 26 times, and then we compared it to the actual.  We do that for the blend; same approach.  Repeat it 26 times.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I am actually going in a different direction than this.

You start with the assumption that it is getting warmer, right?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you didn't have that to describe, you couldn't use a trend as a predictor, because you wouldn't know, as we saw with the meaningless graphic, you wouldn't know which direction it was going to go.  You wouldn't know whether it was cyclical, whether it was a trend in the right direction, whether it was random.  You wouldn't know that, right?

MR. GARDINER:  We know from the experts that assisted us in 2004 that climate change is occurring.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, are you presenting that as evidence here?

MR. GARDINER:  I am going back to the 2004 case and the discussions of Dr. Weaver, and we're not saying -- we're saying there is climate change.  Where it is coming from we're not -- we don't know, but it is occurring.

And we are seeing in the weather data the fact that over time it's getting warmer.  So how do we represent that in a weather-normal?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. GARDINER:  And because we have seen -- if you go back, using the Toronto data and you plot that out, you see it's getting warmer.  That is the underpinning of the concept.  We're trying to keep it simple.  Also, I'm not a climatologist, meteorologist.  I am a practising economist doing demand forecasts, and I'm trying to get the best forecast I can.

And I know back when we had the 30-year average, I was always missing the target.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had a discussion with Mr. Aiken about the fact that in the last 14 years there's actually a trend upwards; right?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your answer to that on page 38 of the transcript was, the shorter the period, the more variable the trend; right?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so a longer period is better?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if what you're trying to describe is the warming of climate, then don't you have to know what the period of time is over which it is warming in order to know what the trend is?

MR. GARDINER:  We saw that in the 2003 evidence.  We had a 30-year declining trend, and the 20-year declining trend performed better.  And also Mr. Root, he advised us when looking at this -- because when you look at the annual weather data, the decline in heating degree days becomes really pronounced.  It becomes evident in the '80s, although -- our data, anyway, and he suggested that we use -- he advised that we use 20 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Root was a climatologist?

MR. GARDINER:  No.  Mr. Root is a -- I would have to go back to his CV which was provided, which is on the record.  I know he is a meteorologist.  Whether he is a climatologist like Dr. Weaver, I am not sure, but his CV has been provided.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My point is that I didn't see in that evidence, and I don't see in your evidence here before this Panel, any justification for the 20-year period.

Do you have a justification for the 20-year period, other than that's the one that was used last time?

MR. GARDINER:  That is the one that was approved in the blend, okay, and we have compared the 20-year trend, which is a component of the blend, to the blend, to see which one is more symmetric and accurate, and we -- making the case that the 20-year trend, which the Board is familiar with and intervenors are familiar with -- and what we're saying is the trend is the true -- is truer than the blend.  That's the whole case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that, but I am not -- I'm not asking about the blend.  I'm asking about the 20 years.

You have said you have to discern the trend in a time series of data.  And my question is:  Why is the time series 20 years?

MR. GARDINER:  Because --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why isn't it 30?  Why isn't it ten?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GARDINER:  We focussed on the 20 years because it's a component of the blend, which is Board-approved.  It came out of the 2004 analysis, and when we compared the two, the blend against that, symmetry, accuracy -- and all Union Gas is asking for is saying we're not changing the weather-normal.  You've got a 20-year trend, only it is blended right now, okay?

And when we do the comparisons, the 20-year trend is more accurate and symmetric.  So that is why we're not changing it, 21 or 20.  It is a known and it is a performing known.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me come at this a different way.

You tested the 20-year trend for 26 different periods to get these tests that we saw on the screen a minute ago; right?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what the trend is is it's a slope; right?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're going to use that slope to predict 2013.  That's what you're proposing to do?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those 26 years, the slope was different every single year, wasn't it?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So doesn't that mean that there was a different trend every year?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then why do you think the trend this year is right?

MR. GARDINER:  Because it is the most current.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But none of them were -- the fact that they were most current in previous years wasn't relevant to whether they were accurate, was it, because you didn't test that?

MR. GARDINER:  I disagree, because the test was to repeat those 26 trend lines and the estimate for the test year against the actual for the test year.  And when we -- and then the statistics showed that when you look at those 26 tests for the test year, the 20-year trend, compared to the other model, which is also changing because it's a blend -- and even the average will change, because the 30-year average is changing over time -- that the most current is your best estimator of what happens, because the 26 tests indicated that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's what I'm trying to understand.

You didn't test the most current against an earlier one, for example.  So you didn't test the most current slope that you have today against the one from ten years ago to see whether that slope would be more correct, did you?  So you don't know whether the most current is, in fact, the most accurate.  You haven't tested for that?

MR. GARDINER:  No, because the methodology -- the methodology is to use, in the blend, in the original evidence which we prepared in early 2011, the most current 30-year average and the most current 20-year trend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but that is tautology.

MR. GARDINER:  But the thing is, from regulatory decisions, whenever we prepared demand forecasts, there is a normal methodology and it's the most current one.

So in 2000, we didn't use the average from the '99 rate case.  We used an average, 30-year average, up to 2002.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.

MR. GARDINER:  Similarly, we would do in the original evidence up to 2010.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't tested whether a ten-year trend or a 15-year trend or 20 or 30 would be more accurate, have you?

MR. GARDINER:  No, we have not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is actually not complicated to do that; right?  Once of your time series, Excel will do it for you.  It will tell you what your next number is, depending on what the time series is you pick; right?  It is simple.  You can do it in half an hour.

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask you to undertake to give us the 2013 degree days based on ten-year up to 30-year trend.  Keep 2010 as the last year.  All you're changing is the number of years in the trend, so use ten, 11, 12, et cetera, to 30.

Can you do that?  It is not a lot of work; right?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.5.  Is that for each individual -- not each individual year.  All of the years from --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am only asking for this for 2013.  This is not an accuracy test.  This is to test whether those various slopes will produce widely varying numbers.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I'm sorry, I didn't state my question clearly.  Do you mean they should run it for ten years, 11 years, 12 years, 13 years?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, up to 30.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO PROVIDE 2013 DEGREE DAYS BASED ON TEN-YEAR THROUGH TO 30-YEAR TREND, KEEPING 2010 AS THE LAST YEAR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The other area I want to ask you about is -- and this is for you, Ms. Van Der Paelt, I think, and this may be quite brief.

If you could take a look at page 7 and 8 of our materials, this is page 99 and 100 of Tuesday's transcript.

You said, and I'm reading from the bottom of page 99:

"We have always with the large customers used a customer built-up forecast.  There's been a lot of focus historically to ensure that the customers' voice was heard in setting their forecast and that it was appropriate.  So that's the manner that we have used to set the top 60 contract customers."

You see that?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now you are actually referring to overruns here, but that is how you actually do the full forecast for those 60, right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I didn't catch your first word, but yes, that is how I am referring to the bottom, what we call the "bottom-up" for that 60, which, through earlier conversations, is probably a higher number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then on pages -- on page 85 you say, at line 7:

"We prepare the forecasts and take it to it the customer, then get the customer's input on that, and then have them agree or disagree and make changes to it as they see fit."

So you start with an assumption as to what you think their 2013 number should be, and then they tell you to change it and you change it?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So this is a discussion over a period of time.  So what we do is we -- it is not just one meeting that you meet with a customer, right?  We do meet with these customers on an ongoing basis.

So we take them a starting point, which would be a three-year historical average, as well as their past year's consumption if they wanted to look at it.  We would discuss changes in plant operations, changes that they're seeing in terms of how they manufacture the project.

Then we leave those numbers with them to think about.

So when I say we get the customer's input, we don't demand it right at that meeting.  We give them time to reflect, right?  On those numbers.

Then when they come back with:  This is what we think our -– and it is usually related to their production -- this is what we think our production looks like, and therefore our natural gas usage, we then translate that to say:  What would this do to your contract parameters?  Would it change your contract demand parameter?  Would it change your demand contract demand quantities required?

Then we have a discussion around whether that is important, relevant, because ultimately they have to sign off on the contract.

So that's where -- the customer ultimately has to sign a schedule agreeing to the forecast and the parameters that change as a result of that.

So we start with the information, but the customer, if they don't want to sign the contract, that's their right, and -- if they don't agree with the numbers that are there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So there is two parts to that.

First of all, for this rate case, you went to them in 2010 for 2013 demand, right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You went early in 2011?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  It would have been 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is that the same conversation in which you talked to them about their contract demand?  Or is that something you are actually having this year?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We would have talked to them about the implications on their contract demand at that point in time, but obviously their 2013 contract wasn't renewing then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are having that conversation about their contract demand, the one that matters to them, you're having this year, and is not included in the rate application, right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The one that will impact their current contract, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So when you asked them a year ago -- or more than a year ago, I guess -- what's their demand going to be like in 2013, that's something they may not have even forecast yet, right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Potentially, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here's what I'm trying to drive at here.

You said -- and if you take a look at the last page of our materials, page 86 of the transcript from Tuesday, at line 17 -- you talk about your forecast and you say:

"That is what the customers told us based on what they thought they would be consuming."


And I took it to mean that your contract demand forecast is essentially what the customers told you.

First of all, is that right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  It is a reflection of what they have told us, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you change it in any way?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Change it without their knowledge?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then they gave you their best guess for basically 24 months into the future, or 20 months into the future.  Now a lot of things have happened since then that you know that they don't know.

Have you done anything to fix that forecast to make it more accurate, because you have more information?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So in terms of 2013 and the contracts, we continue to have the discussions on an ongoing basis with the clients around the impacts on changes that we see and what they're seeing in their production.

We have not --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm talking about this rate case.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Right.  We have not received -- so 2013 contracts are not set yet.  Those discussions -- so we have been talking to them on an ongoing basis about production, but most of those contracts will be coming due in the September, October, November time frame of this year.

So they will not have been finalized at this point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but I'm not --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So they therefore cannot be reflected in this forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking you -- you are, again, sort of assuming the methodology.  You are assuming that unless they tell you to change it, you have to keep the old number.  But I will give you an example.

If you went to them at the beginning of 2008 or the end of 2007 and said:  Can you please give us a forecast for 2009?  And then the economy went in the tank in 2008, wouldn't you fix it?  Wouldn't you make changes, even though they're not telling you anything new because you are not ready to talk to them yet?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  If I adjusted a customer's forecast, I would have to open their contract and adjust their CD and their DCQ.  I would need their agreement to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking you to adjust their forecast.

I'm asking you -- you're telling the Board how much revenues you can expect from these particular classes.

This is about your rate application, not about your contracts with them.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Right.  So when look at what's actually materializing in the year -- when we do our forecasting internally, we also have a long lead time.  So it is when the actual revenues are materializing in the year that we would then reflect on:  Is that year going to be short revenue, or is it going to be over our revenue forecast?

Once we submit our forecast, which is also about six months in advance, four months in advance, we don't change it at that point in time, which would have been based on the customer input.

So the forecast is set.  It's the variances to the forecast that we look at on sort of an ongoing, real-time basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Wolnik, for example, asked you about the Lennox situation, and the fact that -- or the potential that a change in Lennox output will change the demand for power -- from power producers.

And this is something that is more recent information that they wouldn't have had at the time they talked to you more than a year ago, right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you haven't adjusted your forecast for rate purposes to account for that, right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't that mean that it is likely to be wrong?

Let's assume it is material.  Maybe it isn't, but let's assume it is.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  If you looked at one example, I would say -- and said that you have new information on this which you don't have in your forecast, that one specific could be wrong.

But when you look at the collection of customers within the group, the diversity among the group would suggest some will be up and some will be down over what they have actually told you, and overall your forecast should be quite accurate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Aren't there common causes sometimes?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Not with the manufacturing, because there's different drivers that impact each manufacturer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was asking about power producers.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The power producers, it's not common to all of them, no.  That's not what we have seen to date.

It depends on where they are geographically.  It depends on why they're being called on.  It depends if it is a weather-driven issue as to why they're being called on.

So not all of them have the same -- if you're a northern utility generator, it is based on gas price.

So they each have a different driver, which would change why they may change their forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So having an OPG unit in a planned outage for six months next year wouldn't affect, on a common basis, their overall need for gas?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Not on a common basis, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Thompson, please?

MR. THOMPSON:  I am happy to go, but I think Mr. Millar thought he could --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I have quite a bit less than Mr. Thompson.

The hope was that I could take us to the lunch break.  I'm not sure when you're planning on taking the lunch break.

I have 15 to 20 minutes.  Or if you prefer to --


MS. HARE:  I would prefer if Mr. Thompson went forward.

MR. MILLAR:  Very well.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I circulated electronically yesterday a compendium for this panel.  It is entitled...

MR. MILLAR:  This will be K2.3, Madam Chair, the CME compendium, Exhibit K2.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  CME COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS, REVENUE IN-FRANCHISE

MR. THOMPSON:  It is entitled "CME Compendium of Documents Revenue In-Franchise", and I gave three copies to my friend for the panel.  Staff has been kind enough to make some additional copies available if others didn't download what we circulated.

So witness panel, I assume you have a copy of what we circulated yesterday, K2.3?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  So it is a thick document, but it is a quick read and I hope to be not too long with you.  But I wanted to start by getting on the record some of the context that influences my client's evaluation of the appropriateness of your in-franchise revenue forecast for 2013, as well as other items remaining in issue in this case, and that takes us to page 1 of the compendium.

This summary page stems from the information that the company has provided in response to Exhibit J.O-4-14-1, and you will see that at pages 2 and following.

So if you could just keep your finger on page 1, and I can explain -- I'm sure the witness panel understands this, but I will explain to others how this has been built up.

In terms of the question that was asked, it essentially was to list the revenue sufficiencies year by year, and then provide explanation of the major causes for the items in each year.

So with that, if you could just go to page 12, please, keeping your finger on page 1?  At page 12, the company has provided financial summary, including derivation of revenue deficiency/sufficiency.  Do you see that, witness panel?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, we do.

MR. THOMPSON:  And at line 24, you will see summarized there the adjusted revenue sufficiency in every year from 2007 to 2012, inclusive; correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the number for 2007 is a 24 million sufficiency, and at page 1 that is in column 1 at line 20; fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then going just across, there is 82 million in 2008, 51 million in 2009, 44 million in 2010, 62 million in 2011, and a forecast of 12 million in 2012.

And all of those numbers then that appear on page 1 at line 20 stem from that summary at page 12; is that fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then if you would just go with me then to attachment 2, this is the summary that you provided of what I call the major causes of these sufficiencies in each year.  Attachment 2 is at page 14.  Excuse me.  So just keep your finger on attachment 2.

At lines 1 to 18, you have the various headings -- the company has the various headings with respect to causes of the deficiency/sufficiency components; fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so what we have in the column 2007 Board-approved versus 2007 actual, that's the 24 million that we see on attachment 1, as well as on page 1 and column 1; fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then what is being shown on attachment 2 is the change year over year.  So that attachment -- sorry, for 2007 versus 2008, it is an added sufficiency of 58 million.

When you add the 58 to the 24, you get the 82 that appears on attachment 1 and also on page 1?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fair?  So if you go across the bottom - and you can do it for each individual line - you get the numbers that appear at line 20 on page 1 by simply adding or subtracting the changes, year-to-year changes, that are shown on attachment 2.

So, for example, from 82 million in 2007 versus 2008, it goes down 31 million and that produces the $51 million sufficiency that appears on page 1; correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if you do the same for all of the line items that you have provided in this attachment 2, you will get the make-up of what we've displayed and actually what -- you folks corrected what I had initially done and provided what is now page 1; is that fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the big picture is the cumulative revenue sufficiency over six years, 2007 to 2012, is $275 million, which is shown at line 20 on page 1 in the bottom right-hand corner; fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then up above we can see the various contributors to that.  And in the revenue side of it, we have 285 million at line 5; fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And contract market and general service market are lines 1 and 2, and they total I think it is 77 million.  Would you take that subject to check?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And this is the area of your responsibility.  These two lines are topics that you can speak about; is that fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Those two lines are the responsibility of this panel.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Then we see S&T is a very large number, 202 million.  Dropping down, delivery-related gas cost, that is another contributor of $132 million.  I assume we will hear from the gas cost panel on that.  O&M is a deficiency contribution at line 15 of $116 million.  But that is what the numbers are showing; fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  I would just like to add that we are also accountable for line 4.  Ms. Newbury is here for other revenue.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, yes, I'm sorry.  So you are everything except S&T?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

So it is 77 plus 6, that is $83 million, is the bailiwick of this panel.

Now, another item, preliminary item of context I would like to just touch on deals with the information that starts at page 22.  This is J.C-3-14-1.

The purpose of this information, and what I am trying to do is just to get you to confirm for the record the nature of the manufacturer constituency that takes service from Union Gas.

In J.C-3-14-1, we asked you to break out the contract customers between manufacturers and others.  Is that a fair paraphrase?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So if we then go to page 23, we see the volume comparison by market sector, and if we go over to the right-hand column -- and just pausing, these are all contract customers; have I got that right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  If we go to the right-hand column, you will see the number of customers that are manufacturers are 261 -- number of contract customers are 261, and those that are not manufacturers are 244, for a total of 505.  Would you take that subject to check?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I will.

MR. THOMPSON:  So 52 percent of the contract customers are what you classify as manufacturers; fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the volume that they take, you will see for 2013 they take 5,329 106 m3.  That is at line 6 under 2013.

The total forecast for 2013 is 8,689 106 m3, which I make -- manufacturers are -- take about 61 percent of the volumes under contract rates.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Attachment 2, if you go to page 24, is looking at revenues.  And so here again, we have the same numbers of contract customers on the right-hand side.

So 52 percent of the customers take 59.9 million or produce 59.9 million of the forecast, $111.6 million, for contract customers, which I make to be 54 percent of the revenues.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I will.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

Then finally, an exhibit that we were discussing earlier, attachment 3, then lists the contract customers by rate class.

So we have the same numbers of customers that are manufacturers and not manufacturers on the right-hand side of the page, but we see that they take service under almost all of the contract rate classes; is that fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, finally in terms of the customer mix, you have a number of manufacturers that are also served on the -- do we call M1 and M2 and 01 and 10 general service classes?  Is that --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, we do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And if you go to the next page, page 26, you will see that the manufacturers served on M1, M2, 01 and 010 are listed for each of the south and north operations areas, and they total 9,620 customers; correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that in grand total, with the 261 contract customers and the 9,620 general service, we have 9,881, or almost 9,900 manufacturers taking service from Union under a broad range of rate schedules?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fair?  Thank you.

Now, the last item of context that I wanted to deal with is in the next series of pages.  It really starts at page 27 and goes on for a number of pages, but this relates to impacts that Mr. Wolnik was discussing with you on Tuesday.

If you would go to page 30, in terms of the impacts -- well, start with page 29.  This -- if I could just back up, this is Exhibit JT2.10, and this was an update produced at my request of some information that the company had presented to its directors at an earlier point in time; is that fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so at page 29, we see the impacts for Union north for 01 and rate 10, and then Union south, M1 and M2 at certain consumption levels.  Then at page 30 we see the impacts on the contract rate classes; fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  So there are some very large impacts here; M4, 20 percent, M5A, 42 percent.  These are delivery bill impacts.  T1 small, 33 percent, T1 average, 19 percent.

Then Mr. Wolnik was discussing with you rates 20, 25 and 100.  They're at the bottom.  43 percent, 43 percent and 29 percent; fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  The other documents that are attached - and I will just go jump quickly ahead - you will see at page 45 the presentation that was made to the board of directors on March 21, 2012.

I thought in here -- yes, if you go to page 49 and 50, you will see the impacts that were presented to the board of directors at that time.  They're more or less in the same range as what are provided in the exhibit I just took you through; is that fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so these impacts are significant for many customers.  Just before I leave impacts, I would like to take you to page 53, which is Exhibit J.H-1-14-2, and this is looking -- or requesting information for impacts within the M1 and M2 classes, based on the break point change that you are proposing, as well as some impacts on the T1 customers, based on the proposal that is before the Board.

If we go to page 57, you will see that within the M1/M2 category, where the global presentation is showing three percent, we see that in the 5,000 to 20,000 -- I think it is -- annual volume, the impacts range from 11.8 percent to 32.9 percent; fair?

That is in "bill impacts" on the right-hand side for the annual volume category in the middle.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  I see the column.  I just didn't prepare the table myself.  So subject to check, it does look like that is what it says.

MR. THOMPSON:  Anyway, within that M1/M2 class there are some big hits.

So my next question is then -- you have discussed the interaction you have with customers, certainly the contract customers.  My question is:  Has any specific notice been given -- of these proposals and their impacts been given to individual customers?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We presented to the customers at customer meetings the proposal around the rate design.

The focus would have been primarily around the M4, M5 and T1 changes, because those would be the ones that would -- were having the most significant change.

And at the time -- I would have to go and verify, but I do not believe the rate impacts were shown, because it was subject to OEB approval.

I think we indicated -- in specific conversations with both APPrO, IGUA and the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters Association, we did indicate that there were significant differences on the T1 between -- and the T2, in terms of the rate impacts.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I take it the answer to my question is no, that you have not given individual customers specific notice of what these proposals mean to them, if they're approved?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  I would say some customers have received specific information to them, but it would be a handful of the very large customers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that because they asked?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  It is because they are account-managed, they're strategic accounts, and we take that information to them.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the presentation you are describing, I think we find it in my compendium starting at page 31.

If you go over to page 35, you see the proposed M4/M5 and M7A eligibility changes.  Then a little later on, you get to the T1 at page 39.

Could you just confirm that that is the presentation that was made?  That is what the interrogatory response says, I believe.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And would you take it, subject to check, there is no specific impact information in that presentation?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I will take that, subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  So why don't you advise customers on an individual basis -- I am thinking manufacturers in particular -- what this means to them if it is approved.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The sufficiency/deficiency represents more than just the changes in the rates, these rate services.  And at the time we were meeting with the customers, I would not have the actual isolation of what their rate impact is just as a result of the rate change.

So there's two pieces of information.  There is the sufficiency/deficiency and what that drives, and then there is the rate impact that is driven by the proposed changes to the services.

MR. THOMPSON:  But you presented to the board of directors earlier a list of percentage impacts by rate class, but you don't present it to the customers, and my question is:  Why not?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Because at the time, there is -- we don't go out to the customers with proposed rate impacts of that magnitude prior to a rate case.

So if you look back to the previous rate cases, we explain what we're asking for in our proceeding.  We explain what deficiencies and sufficiencies are.  But so many things change during the rate case and the proceeding that it would present customers potentially with a picture that may be different than what they will actually see at the end.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you think that makes for good customer relations?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Most of our customers, we would be dealing with the marketers and we do talk to the marketers about what is in this change.

So the smaller customers would not be as attuned to some of the specifics around the sufficiencies and deficiencies and what that meant.

As I indicated earlier, with our large customers we do go out and talk to them specifically.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me move on.  Let's move to weather normalization.  You have had a discussion with a number of people about that, and I wanted to go back to -- just keep your finger on this page 25 where we had the rate classes.

You read into the record today the ones that were bottoms-up, the ones that were econometric, and then Mr. Smith, as I understand it, is suggesting there might be some bottoms-up in 20s.  But that is going to be clarified later.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Right.  We will provide the undertaking as indicated.

MR. THOMPSON:  But am I right, there are some econometric and some bottom-up in rate 20?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And am I right that rate 25 is bottoms-up?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  It would be part of the rate 100 forecast in most cases, and the -- there are some rate 20 customers who would also take a rate 25 contract.  Those customers are the ones that would be bottom-up, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, fine.

And so if the Board finds that your econometric model is underestimating normalized annual -- normalized actual, whatever it is, NACs, am I correct that to the extent -- and make some adjustment for that purpose.  Just assume that.

Am I correct that that adjustment should be applied to rate 20, the portion of rate 20 that is econometric, yet to be provided to us, to M4 and M5, which are the two other classes that you told us today were econometric?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  If the Board were to change how we were to see -- there was a change required in how we forecast on an econometric basis, those are the rate classes that would be affected.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So, first, if they found your econometric model is producing an under-forecast by two percent, or five or some other percentage, it should be applied to those particular classes, as well?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Each of these classes has an econometric forecast that is -- what I want to say is it is not the same model that we use for general service; right?

So it's the econometric forecast for these markets, based on the attributes as identified in evidence for them.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So the reason I clarified that, Mr. Thompson, is the greenhouse, for example, has significantly different factors in the econometric model than potentially an LCI, and both of those would be in M4 and 5.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, thanks.  In terms, then, of the -


MS. HARE:  Excuse me, Mr. Thompson, I think Ms. Taylor wants to clarify something.

MS. TAYLOR:  You know where I am going with this.  I can see it on your face.

MR. SMITH:  I do.

MS. TAYLOR:  I originally asked a question.  I asked whether or not it was, by rate class, bottoms-up or if more than one economic model was used, and you did not answer that at the time.

So in addition to breaking it out definitively that we're doing, I would like to know which models are driving which numbers, and that needs to be crystal clear when you file that interrogatory, because I asked it earlier and it was not answered.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Will that be part of the previous undertaking?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, but just then in terms of the total, what we're showing here as contract volumes for 2013 on page 25 of 8,686 106 m3, 3,471 plus 95, that is M4, M5, and plus a portion of 220, are subject to econometric model approach.  Have I got that straight?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  On this chart, we had earlier identified an error and I don't think that's been put in the record.  There is an offset in the line-up of those items.

We do have a new chart which, if it hasn't been filed, we can file.

So what you are looking at, 3,471 and 1,196, that currently lines with M4, that is more appropriately on the T1 line.  As you can see, those two numbers should add up to 4,666.

So to answer your question, Mr. Thompson, the volumes on line M4 of 380, in total 531, and then the 610, which is rate 20, in total, would be those that are impacted by econometric.  But the split in the next column between volume not manufacturing and volume manufacturing, although the numbers are right, some of them are on the wrong line.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, just help me with that.

What is at M4 should move up to line 4; is that what you're telling me?  Does it get added to what is there now, or does line 4 come down?  It doesn't seem to make much sense.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yeah.  I would rather we just provide the corrected forecast, the corrected table.  So line T1, where you have 81 and 300, that is actually the M4 number.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  Forecast volume has gone from 3 --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So let's walk through the chart.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, I'm with you.  Yeah, right.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So on line T1, we have 81.

MS. HARE:  Sorry, just a second.  You are following this.  I'm not.  Do you have the corrected chart?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I don't have it in the room here with me, but we can certainly provide it after lunch.

MS. HARE:  Well, maybe it would be more efficient to break for lunch, get the new chart, and then we can follow along.  Okay?  So why don't we do that?

MR. THOMPSON:  I think, Madam Chair, you will see the forecast for 2013 at line 6 for M4 is 380, and what the witness is saying is that's broken down, 381, between manufacturers and non-manufacturers.

So those two numbers at line 4 should be at line 6.  The numbers at line 6 I think should be at line 4.

MR. SMITH:  We will just give the chart.

MS. HARE:  Let's break for lunch.  We will be back at two o'clock and we will have the new chart.

MR. SMITH:  I just want to make sure that we're helpful.

So in response to the undertaking, the further econometric model is described in evidence at C1, tab 2, page 4, and perhaps in the undertaking we will just cross-reference to the evidence where the econometric model is explained.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  And we're talking about a single econometric model.

MR. SMITH:  There are -- well, there are three different methods, two of which are econometric.  That is the difference between C1 and C2.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That was the point I was trying to get at.  So there are two econometric methodologies, and then there is a bottom-up methodology that is also used?


MR. SMITH:  That's correct.  What I am just offering is that we will cross-reference so it is apparent.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Okay, that will be helpful.  We will return at two o'clock.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:53 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:08 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Just a couple of preliminary matters.

We do have the corrected table, so we've got that and you should have a copy in front of you.

I understand that undertaking responses to all of the undertakings given yesterday are presently being filed with the Board.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  With the exception of J1.3, which we'll have, I think, by mid-afternoon.

That's it.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Good.

Okay, Mr. Thompson.  Can you resume, please?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you.

Yes, panel, when we broke we were discussing the table at page 23 of the compendium, and now we have a corrected table.  The point I was trying to make was the proportion of -- trying to get was the proportion of the volume in the contract categories that is subject to econometric estimation.

My understanding now, if we look at the 2013 column with the full amount of 8,688 at line 9, my understanding is up to 610 in rate 20 -- and you will tell us what it is later -- would be econometric.  The 380, 106 m3 M4 is econometric and the 531 of M5 is econometric; is that fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So if I add up those three numbers, I get 1,621.  When expressed as a percentage of the 8,688 is, I believe, in the order of 17.5 percent.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so it is up to 17.5 percent of the contract volumes forecast for 2013, and you will clarify what it is later, that -- so it is, sorry, up to 17.5 percent of those volumes would be subject to adjustment if the model is altered by the Board in some fashion, from what you have proposed?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Now, in terms of the -- just to nail this down, you told Mr. Buonaguro that the seven million was the deficiency impact of sticking with the 55:45 methodology.  In other words, the deficiency would be reduced by seven million if we didn't go to the 20-year trend?

MR. GARDINER:  For delivery revenues, correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  My question is:  Does that include these contract categories that are subject to econometric, or do we need an add-on for the contract categories?

And if so, could you give us, by way of undertaking, what that add-on would be?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. GARDINER:  The seven million pertains to the general service rate classes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So by undertaking, could you provide us with the additional deficiency impact of staying with the 55:45 in these contract categories that are assessed econometrically?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL DEFICIENCY IMPACT OF CONTINUING THE 55:45 METHODOLOGY IN CONTRACT CATEGORIES ASSESSED ECONOMETRICALLY.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

So now let me move on to the issue of weather normalization.  You have been discussing that with others at some length.

It is clear from your discussion with Mr. Buonaguro -- and we have also included in our compendium at page 60 the March 18, 2004 decision that he provided in his materials.  Do you see that there?

It is the same excerpts that Mr. Buonaguro circulated?

MR. GARDINER:  I have it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Sommerville was a member of that Panel.  So this issue has been around as long as Mr. Sommerville.

[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  It's a long time.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  I'm not sure that people in glass houses should, as the saying goes.

[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  Wisdom has its benefits, Mr. Smith.

In any event, my point is Union's been pushing this proposal for some time; fair?

MR. GARDINER:  Fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in this decision, at page 64 of the compendium, what the Board said was, at the bottom of the page:

"Union was unable to demonstrate that its proposal provided a clear and unambiguous improvement over the 30-year methodology."

That is what the Board said.  Is that fair?

MR. GARDINER:  That's what the Board said.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then the Board went on in the next page, at paragraph 144 -- allowing Union in 2004 to go to 70-30 weighting of the 30-year average and then 20-year trend; correct?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then considering five percent declines thereafter, until such time as a 50-50 weighting is in place.

That was the Board's decision then?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so following that decision, in 2005, my understanding is you went to 65-35.

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  2006, you went to 60-40?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then in 2007, you went to 55:45?

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then in the 2007 case, which is EB-2005-0520, you took another stab at the 20-year declining trend proposal -– model?

That's not in our compendium, but the evidence reference in that EB-2007-0606 is Exhibit B, tab 1, pages 12 to 16 -- sorry, 12 to 15.  Excuse me.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think in fairness to the witnesses, if there is going to be evidence that is put to them asking them to recall details of the filing from some years ago, I think in fairness to them the evidence should be put to them.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I wasn't proposing to make a big deal of it, but perhaps -- is Mr. Buonaguro here?  He is quick on the draw.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm looking for it.

[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Exhibit B, tab 1, pages 12 to 15.  I'm sorry I didn't have this in our compendium, because I came across it after we circulated the compendium.

MR. BRETT:  Excuse me.  Did you by any chance mean the 2005-0520 case?

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  EB-2007-0606.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  There it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  There we go.  So would you take it, subject to check, that this was part of the EB-2007-0606 evidence?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you were proposing here, again, to go to the 20-year declining trend; fair?

MR. GARDINER:  Fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  And one of the statements you made -- the company made, anyway, in the second paragraph is:
"Using the current 55% 30-year average and 45% 20-year declining trend blended method ("55/45 blend") represents a substantial risk to the company."


That is what was said at the time?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in the -- would you take it, subject to check, in the settlement agreement in EB-2007-0606, article 1.3 - Mr. Buonaguro has it, God bless him - Union agreed and the parties agreed that no change needs to be made to the attribution of weather risk in this proceeding?  And that is in the first sentence, and then the agreement goes on.

MR. GARDINER:  During the current IR period we are operating under the 55:45 blended normal.

MR. THOMPSON:  So Union accepted it, for the purposes of settlement the last time it raised it, that 55:45 was satisfactory?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, it did.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, in this case you are back at it again.  Is there any description of the history of this mentioned in the evidence in this case?  I didn't see it, but that doesn't mean it's not there.

MR. GARDINER:  Well, if we made reference to this...


If you turn to Exhibit C1, tab 5, page 2 of 7, lines 1 to 5 states that -- what we just discussed, that we went from a 30 to a blended 70:30 to the 55:45.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But I couldn't find anywhere where it says that the Board's prior decision, as I interpreted it, said to stop at 50:50.  Is that in the evidence anywhere?

MR. GARDINER:  It is in the original -- it's not in this, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  It appeared to me that in presenting the proposal that you have in this case, you just disregarded that Board decision.  Is that fair?

MR. GARDINER:  Well, I think we -- it's the reality.  We are operating on a 55:45, and we have been for the duration of the incentive rate mechanism.  That's our normal.  That's what was agreed to in 2007, and so that's our starting point.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, I accept that.  But in terms of where you go from 55:45, I would have thought, in light of the prior Board decision, you would have gone to 50:50 and stopped.  That is what the Board appeared to decide.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GARDINER:  If we go back to the evidence that you had on the settlement for the IR in 2007, that's what was agreed to by all parties and became part of the decision.  So that's what we have.  We can't go to -- we can't go ultimatively -- wrong word.  We can't by ourselves decide, oh, it's 50:50.  It is 55:45 based on that decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think we're missing one another.

The 55:45 was the ratio that was compatible with the Board's 2004 decision at page 60 of my compendium for 2007.

What I'm suggesting to you is the Board's 2004 decision authorized you to go to 50:50 and stop.  What you've come forward with is -- you haven't stopped at 50:50.  It appears you didn't even consider that decision.

MR. SMITH:  With respect, I don't think it's an appropriate question of a fact witness to ask the fact witness whether the 0063 decision precludes Union from bringing forward, in a rebasing proceeding, a proposal to go to a 20-year trend.  That is a matter of argument that we can argue about.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  We will leave that for argument.

But can the witnesses agree with me on this point, that nothing has materially changed since 2003 or 2008 with respect to this push for 20-year normal weather method?

MR. GARDINER:  What has changed is we have continued to look at the two normals.  We have shown in our evidence that the 20-year trend is superior, and we're applying to the Board to change the normal to the 20-year trend.

MR. THOMPSON:  But that's what you said in 2003 and that's what you said in 2007 and that's what you're saying now.

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, just then on the 50:50, if you held at 50:50, that takes me to page 66 and 67 of the compendium.  The question here was:  What would be the revenue -- I'm saying revenue effects of sticking with -- sorry, of sticking with 55:45 or going to 50:50.

The way I interpret the information at attachment 1, which is page 67, at 55:45 the revenues would be the sum of the 6,956 and the 35,480 or 42,436?

MR. GARDINER:  No.  That's not correct.  The 6,956 is the impact on the delivery revenues.  So those delivery revenues are, you know, the fixed monthly -- it would be the delivery commodity, rate block revenues and the storage-related charge revenues in the south, and in the north it would be strictly the impact of the delivery commodity block revenue.

The sales revenue is the total gas sales revenue when you include the gas supply-related revenue for the system sales customers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, what I was trying to find out, and maybe -- I thought this exhibit helped us, but what I was trying to find out is:  What would the deficiency effect be of stopping at 50:50?

In other words, it is 7 million if we stay at 55:45.  What does the 7 become at 50:50?

MR. SMITH:  We provided an undertaking to give that.  We have given an undertaking to do that already.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Okay, thank you.  My apologies.  All right, let me move on.  I am getting close to the end here.

Now, just on this point of the statement that was made in the 0606 evidence that we looked at to the effect that going with 55:45 posed a significant risk for the company, and coming back to my page 1 where general service market and contract market -- well, the general service market is a $51 million contribution to cumulative revenue sufficiency over the six years.

Am I correct that had you been allowed to operate under the auspices of your 20-year trend through IRM, that rates would have been lower on average by -- that's general service market rates -- by $7 million per year?  Big picture?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. GARDINER:  The question that you're asking, if we had the 20-year trend instead of the 55:45 over the period, would it have affected the rate-setting -- okay.

So I can't answer your question, because the actual volumes would not have changed, but the forecast upon which the rates were initially set in 2007 would have been different.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  The volumes would have been lower.

And I'm suggesting that -- again, big picture -- that they would have been lower, and as a result you would have recovered $7 million -- you would have recovered the $7 million that you say is the deficiency effect in this case in those rates.

So they'd have been higher by $7 million per year?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GARDINER:  At a high level, Mr. Thompson, I think the answer is yes, but subject to test -- to checking.

I'm the economist; I'm not the rates person.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so had you been operating under the 20-year trend, instead of 51 million in our column 7, we'd have had 51 plus 42, that is six years at seven, which would have been -- putting us at 93 million contribution to cumulative revenue sufficiency.

Is that the significant risk the company faces?

MR. GARDINER:  This table that we're looking at in your compendium is equivalent to that gas supply total revenue that was mentioned, and also reflects that over the period, the rates changed and the WACOG, the cost of gas supply changed.  And also these numbers are referenced back to the Board-approved number.

So it is not a forecast variance that we're looking at.  It is really a change from a position in 2007.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, my point is the actuals wouldn't have changed in those years had you had lower rates -- sorry, lower volumes and higher rates, and on average you earned $7 million a year more.

I think what I have suggested to you follows; do you agree?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GARDINER:  At a high level and assuming that the WACOG was at the equivalent WACOG that we show in the page 67 compendium, yes, at a high level it would be $7 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  Per year for six years --


MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- equals $42 million?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, you discussed with Mr. Aiken this issue of possible underestimates of your general service volumes and revenues, and I don't intend to repeat that.

In terms of the underestimates generally, though, I do want to refer you to an exhibit, and it is not in my compendium; it is Exhibit J.O-4-15-1.

This, as I understand it, contains two presentations that were made to the executive, one in September 2011 and a second -- sorry, one in July of 2011 and one in September of 2011.

I am assuming this is not your exhibit.  It is probably the finance group, is it, that I should speak to this about in detail?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But in terms of what it's showing, what it says in the interrogatory response is the initial forecast presentation made to Union's executive team in 2011, including a forecast of 2012 ROE, shows 6.89 percent, and then two months later it's up to 9.31 percent.  And one of the causes for this is unidentified distribution contract market opportunities, and I assume that this panel knows something about that.  Do you?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Could we see the next schedule, because I'd have to see the numbers?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  The first schedule, just to help you with this, attachment 1 is the July presentation, and so you will see for 2011, I think the budget is, I believe, 698.05, and the 2011 outlook, six plus six, is 710.5 million.  That is distribution margin.

That is your bailiwick, is it?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then if you go over to attachment 2, which is the updated -- sorry, is the September presentation.  And you have to go in about six pages.  You will see compared to -- 2011 compared to the outlook of 710.5 is now 729.5.

2012 budget got bumped up by a similar amount, about $18 million, but the forecast for 2013 is only up 12 over the initial presentation to the executive.

Can you help us with any of those numbers?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We're just having to find all of the schedules, so we think we have -- this is attachment 2?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Mr. Thompson, we don't have all of the information in our binders to address this.  The distribution margin would also include all the WACOG changes and cost of gas, because this distribution margin would be -- I think would have all of the pieces, and I only have -- our schedules aren't structured, I guess, in terms of my backup to address the question.

So can I confirm that the numbers, according to the schedules, went up?  Yes.  I do not have the "why" here with me.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can you help us with the unidentified distribution contract market opportunities that were -- that were prompting these increases in distribution margin?

MS. HARE:  Is this better put to the finance panel?

MR. SMITH:  It sounds like it might be.  We can certainly have somebody prepared to provide the disaggregation and what the opportunity was that is referred to.  I am more than happy to do that.

MS. HARE:  Would that be satisfactory to you, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  It would, but I would like this panel to say they don't know what this is all about.  If they do, then I would like to hear what they have to say about it.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I don't have the information that says what this is about.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you have any idea what this is all about?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, just a couple of follow-up areas and I am done.

Mr. Wolnik and Mr. Brett were talking to you about overrun, and there is in our material -- wait while I get this.

Yes.  You were having a discussion with Mr. Wolnik about overrun in the power sector, and you indicated, We are forecasting no overrun in the power sector.  And you gave evidence, and at page 78 of the compendium is the response you provided to Mr. Quinn describing the overrun in 2010, 2011 in the power sector, as I understand it.

Then you gave some evidence about 2012 to date in the power sector when Mr. Wolnik was examining.  Do you recall that?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if you go to the next page, 79, you will see that overrun is not just in the power sector.  It's in other sectors, as well; correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  On annual basis.  So on actual 2011, the total overrun was $2.4 million; correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you are forecasting 600,000 for all market sectors in 2013?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  Overrun by its very nature suggests the customer's unforeseen circumstances that they weren't able to address within their contract parameters, because customers don't opt to run with an unauthorized or authorized overrun.

MR. THOMPSON:  But if you were using some sort of trend analysis, I suggest to you that you would come up with a number somewhat higher than $600,000, but we can leave that for argument.

Now, the last area deals with this bottoms-up business.  You have had discussion with a number of people about that.  In the exhibit, I believe it is at page 74, there is the evidence from C1, tab 2, page 6 describing what I understand to be the bottoms-up process.  Is that what it is intended to describe?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  This is at page --


MR. THOMPSON:  Page 74.  It's page 6 from your Exhibit C1, tab 2.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Okay, got it.  Thank you.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And now the impression that I got when you were discussing this with Mr. Wolnik was that the customer drives the bus.  You folks do your thing, but it is really the customer who has the final say in the forecast, and that got diluted somewhat as you have been questioned by other witnesses (sic).

And so I want to ask you:  Who does drive the bus when it comes to forecast?  Is it the company - as this evidence suggests, the account manager builds the customer forecast - or is it the customer?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  It's a collaboration.  So we provide historic information that will assist the customer in making a decision, which they then look and compare, with their own internal policies, filters that their management table might see fit to put on their production estimates, and then those discussions come back.  The implications on a contract are discussed, and then ultimately agreed to by both parties.

MR. THOMPSON:  So do you get a detailed customer -- forecast, detailed forecast, from the customer?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We ask them to show variances to what we provide, or explain where they think it may be different.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is that a detailed forecast from the customer or not a detailed forecast?  It sounds to me like it is your forecast on which they comment.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  It is the customer's historical actuals on which they comment.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Do you or do you not apply a trend analysis to these bottoms-up forecasts, including rate 25, for example?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We do not.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So I have trouble with that, because if you go to the next page, page 75, this is an answer you gave to my friend, Mr. Wolnik.  Down at the bottom, you say:
"In the large Contract market, where the bottom-up forecasting approach is used, Account Manager's review historic interruptible revenue consumption for each customer, and then apply interruptible trend usage to the forecast period."


It sounds to me like you're doing it with interruptibles at least; is that correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  This would refer specifically to the rate 25 portion that is forecast.

MR. THOMPSON:  I see that, but this is one where you say the bottoms-up -- why would you apply a trend analysis only with one rate category and not all of them that are on the bottoms-up forecasting approach?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  "Trend" here is not in the econometric statistical sense that my friend would think of as "trend" beside me.

It would be looking at, on a rate 25, what a customer's interruptions looked like.  So we're referring to this as the interruptible rates.  That's the only interruptible rate in the rates that we're forecasting from a bottom-up.  All of the others are firm rates.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, but so what?  Trend analysis, as Mr. Wolnik pointed out, seems to be logical to apply.  You seem to apply it in one rate class, but you -- I guess you're standing by your statement, We don't apply it elsewhere.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  And I think the term "trend analysis" is the issue here.  I would not classify this as a trend analysis.  I would classify this as looking at the historic rate 25 consumption on a contract, providing that to the customer and asking them if the rate 25 volumes are going to change.

So it's a similar process.  I think the trouble is in the use of the word "trend" in our response here.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the next, page 76, we asked you to show the customer's forecast versus your own forecast, and then you said here:
"Union does not require detailed consumption forecasts to be produced by the customer.  Consequently, Union cannot produce the table..."

Is that compatible with what you told me a few moments ago?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  We take historical information to the customer and ask them to indicate where there would be variances, based on their own production schedules and other factors that their management table might consider.

We do not ask them to provide a forecast back to us, but rather changes to the numbers that we have provided to them.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And finally, then, page 81 of the material we have, as I understand it, the actual revenues and forecast for the customer group as at December 31, 2011 shown in column 1?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, with respect to the -- and I'll save that.  I was going to ask something about that earlier exhibit, but it's been deferred to the finance panel.

So with that, thank you, panel, witness panel and Board Panel.  That concludes my cross-examination.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Millar, do you have cross for this panel?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I do.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good afternoon --


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Quinn, did you have a question?
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes, I did, if I may.  And I wanted to let Mr. Thompson finish as he is moving the panel through the next point.

Late yesterday I tried to be efficient by asking my question as a follow-along to Mr. Wolnik's question, when I asked about the overrun specific to the Halton Hills generating plant and when the overrun began for that plant, when it was in full operation.

You, during the break, were going to check and get back to us.

Our information says September of 2010; did you find anything different than that?

MR. SMITH:  I was going to deal with it in re-examination.  My friend can ask the question.  We have the answer.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The plant went into service in August of 2009, and there was some volumes late in 2009 and consumption.

MR. QUINN:  Was there overrun, though -- when did the overruns start when it was in full operation so that it would impact --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  There was no overrun in 2009, but your question, I believe, was around was 2010 a full year of operation, and yes, it was.

MR. QUINN:  I guess I was trying to be efficient, but the point we're trying to make is:  When did overruns start?  When would they have the potential of exceeding their billing contracted demand, which was the issue that we were talking about?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The way the contract is structured, they did run in December of 2009.  Because it is a daily number, they theoretically could have exceeded it on a day in December.

MR. QUINN:  So maybe the specific undertaking, if I could refresh it, would be:  When was the first month of billing overrun for the plant?

That would tell us when they have exceeded the billing contract demand.

What triggered my concern is, as the witness said to Mr. Thompson, these are unforeseen circumstances, but in my understanding of billing contract demand, they're not unforeseen circumstances; the billing contract demand is established on the basis of recovery, not capability of the plant.

So those are two different items in terms of whether it is unforeseen or not.

MR. SMITH:  Well, with respect, the question, this arose because my friend said the $200,000 number is a half-year because I understand the plant didn't start until 2010; will you check that?

We have checked that.  The answer is 2009.  And the witness has now indicated that they could have overrun from December 2009 onwards.

I don't think this is a question of refreshing an undertaking.  This is just different cross-examination now, out of turn.  That's my concern with it.

We've answered the question, and it is not a half-year of overrun.  That...

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Millar -- well, sorry, Mr. Quinn.  I will let you have the last word, but my recollection was kind of the same, that the question really was:  When did the plant come into operation?

Having that answer might have allowed you to then continue asking the questions.  So that is why I am a little bit uncertain as to whether or not it is fair to cut him off at this point.

MR. QUINN:  You said it better than I did.  I was anticipating it would be -- the OPA website had said September 2010, which we understood to be full operation.

At that point, we thought the plant would be in a position to have billing contract demand overrun.  It is a question of facts that I think would be fairly simple for them to check as to what month was the first month of overrun.  And at that, I wouldn't have to ask any more questions.

MS. HARE:  Will you be able to provide that information?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sure we can.  The witness may have it.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I don't have the monthly information.  I only have annual with me.  So I would have to take that –-

MS. HARE:  We will take an undertaking, then.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  That would be very helpful.  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:  TO CONFIRM FIRST MONTH OF Plant OVERRUN

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Mr. Millar?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am Counsel for Board Staff.

I will be touching on a few areas.  Could I start by asking you to turn up the interrogatory response, J.B-1-1-5?  It's an interrogatory in which Staff asked you some questions about the relatively low number of new attachments and conversions you are forecasting for 2012 and 2013.  You will see it on the screen if you don't have it in front of you.

MR. GARDINER:  I have the interrogatory on the screen.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You will see we asked about the community of Red Lake.

And just to provide some background to that, as I understand it, Union recently completed a pipeline that was designed to serve a gold mine, but then I believe a spur was built off of that to serve a local community; is that correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  When was that project completed?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  It's not completed.  It is under construction right now.

MR. MILLAR:  The spur or the service to the gold mine?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Both.

MR. MILLAR:  Both.  When will that project be completed?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The gold mine should be completed by fall of 2012.  The community attachments will be phased over 2012 and 2013 and then subsequent to that, but the main pipe that goes down the roadway will be in over those two years.

MR. MILLAR:  And those capital additions are reflected in your rate base for the test year; is that correct?

I know this isn't the capital panel, but if you happen to know that --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I believe they are, but it would be subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  So what are your forecasts for customer additions for 2012 and 2013 for Red Lake?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  For 2012, we have 478 residential customers.  And for 2013, we have 313 customers.

MR. MILLAR:  So just under 800 in total?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You state in the interrogatory response those haven't gone into your customer forecasts; why is that?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We did not have agreement, and Red Lake did not have funding from the ministry to proceed with this project until April of 2012.

So we were unsure that a project even existed at the time of the filing.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But you now know -- so am I right in saying your customer forecasts for conversions are understated by about 800 for 2013?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That would be correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you proposing –- and presumably the revenues from that are not included in your revenue forecast?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That would be correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you give us an idea of how much revenue we're talking about here?  Or is that something you can do by way of undertaking?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  It is approximately $400 per customer, annually.

MR. MILLAR:  So not a heck of a lot?

MR. GARDINER:  It is delivery revenue, also.

MR. MILLAR:  My friend Mr. Viraney has whispered a number in my ear, about $320,000; is that, ballpark, correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That is the number I just got, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Are these all residential connections?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  There are a few small commercial in that mix.

MR. MILLAR:  But nothing that would materially impact –-

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.  These are truly commercial, in terms of a small motel, 7-Eleven, those sort of operations.

MR. MILLAR:  Are there any other projects which you didn't include the customer numbers from?

I can see why Red Lake, you hadn't initially put that in your forecast.  Are there any other similar examples?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No, we don't have any other projects under construction at this time that are residential.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

A follow-up on the LPMA matter.  Could I ask you to turn to J.C-1-2-1?  Attachment 1, in particular?

This was the response to an LPMA interrogatory.  I think we have been to this a couple of times.

You have provided a forecast for 2012, the throughput forecast.  Do you see that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen to know how -- 2012 is about half over.  I don't know for what period you have actuals.  But do you know how you are tracking against that forecast?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I do.

MR. GARDINER:  1.4 percent.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, perhaps we could get the witness, so the record is clear, to identify 1.4 percent relative to where on this table?  There are many numbers.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. GARDINER:  Year to date June, the total volumes in the general service market are running 1.4 percent higher than what was budgeted for the first six months.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

Moving right along, I have some questions about NAC, and a few things I may refer to, maybe just to start, J.C-1-2-2.  I think that is another LPMA interrogatory response.

This is on page 2 of that interrogatory response.  You provided a table that showed the NAC per customer class.

MR. GARDINER:  I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And as described more fully in your evidence, the NAC has been declining over a number of years for a variety of reasons, and you list those, for example, warmer weather, energy efficiency in particular with relation to furnaces, DSM, both natural and Board-approved, and some other things, and you describe that in your prefiled evidence.

And Staff asked you in an IR -- this was J.C-1-1-2.  Maybe I should have taken you there first.  We asked you if you ever saw a time he the NAC would level off or even increase, and you responded there that the NAC would probably level off sometime around 2025 to 2030, in that you expected most people would have switched to high efficiency furnaces by then.  Is that more or less what you have stated?

MR. GARDINER:  That is what I stated.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, another issue that you raised later and I will get to, but I want to ask you about now, is low gas prices.  We're in a period now of -- I'm not sure it is historic, but recently historic low gas prices.  As I understand the futures market, it is thought these low prices will continue for a while.

Assuming gas prices do stay low for an extended period, do you think that will cause the NAC to level off?

MR. GARDINER:  If total bill amount remains the same, you would not get a demand increase or decrease -- if gas prices stay the same, assuming other parts stay the same, you wouldn't get a demand impact.

The elasticity of the total bill is very, very inelastic.  It is -- like, it's 0.7.  So it's -- like, it takes a 14 percent change in the bill to get a 1 percent change in consumption.

MR. MILLAR:  That's your total bill variable?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, say that again?

MR. GARDINER:  The elasticity is very inelastic.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. GARDINER:  And subject to check, it's an inelasticity of 0.7, which is, like, you need a 14 percent change in the total bill to get a 1 percent change in consumption.

MR. MILLAR:  So if the bill drops by 14 percent, you would expect to see consumption rise by 1 percent?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Could I ask you to turn to your prefiled evidence respecting NAC, in particular, Exhibit C1, tab 1, page 23?

MR. GARDINER:  I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  You provided -- you will see figure 5 there, and it is in fact an update from your original prefiled evidence, showing the NAC for the residential old rate M2 class.  Do you see that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  First of all, what is the old M2?

MR. GARDINER:  In 2008, the old M2 class was changed into rate M1 and rate M2.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And am I right that almost all of M2 -- of the old M2 is now in M1?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  All of M1 is in -- there's currently seven residential M2 customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Seven, okay.  And everyone else is now in M1?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And all of those people would have been in M2 before it was --


MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  In the old M rate, they would have all been in M2, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  For most intents and purposes, what you have here as M2 is effectively M1 now?  You've done a forecast.

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I note when I look at the actual numbers, you do have a separate forecast for M1.  It is almost identical to what you show here.  It is off by about four?

MR. GARDINER:  I agree.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so we're talking about the same thing.

So when you did your update, which is provided here, you updated the actuals for 2011; is that correct?

MR. GARDINER:  On this chart, that's what we did.  When we updated, we included the 2011 actuals as opposed to the 2011 estimate.

MR. MILLAR:  And the actuals are 2,264?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The estimate had been 2,227?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So the actuals were 37 m3 higher than the forecast?

MR. GARDINER:  That variance analysis is presented in the LPMA interrogatory J.C-1-2-4, page 3 of 3.  And you can see the two numbers that you refer -- you just stated, 2,264, 2,227, a variance of 37, 1.7 percent, which is within the 2 percent forecast accuracy.

Then when we break it out, we find that the various demand variables accounted for some of that 37.  For example, the furnace efficiency index was worth 13, person per household 1, the DSM program was one, and the residual was 22.  And, therefore, the residual, when you look at it in isolation, is 1 percent of the estimate.

So I am in my forecast accuracy zone.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  In fact, you answered this question also in a Board Staff interrogatory, you may recall, at J.C-1-1-2, and I was going to take you there.

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  In which you said more or less what you have just said now, where you state -- do you have it?  It's the response to (b) in Board Staff J.C-1-1-2.

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  So page 1 there at the bottom, the gross 1.7 percent forecast error is reduced to a residual 1 percent error or 22 cubic metres, and that is what you have just told us; right?

MR. GARDINER:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  When you take into account the demand drivers.

Just for my information - I am a bit of a neophyte with this - a residual is the portion of the error that can't be explained by the variables.  The equation doesn't explain; is that correct?

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Something is happening there that you can't explain?

MR. GARDINER:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then, in fact, if you go to page 2 of that response, you say that:

"The residual error is not explained by the regression equation.  It may be attributable to other consumer behaviour, example, higher thermostat settings associated with low customer bills arising from warm weather and low gas prices."

Do you see that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But isn't total bill impact already part of the regression analysis?

MR. GARDINER:  It is, but it's just addressing the price.

The last comment was sort of to say, Okay, what could be causing this?  And when you have low gas prices, lower bills, which customers have seen over the last several years, it is possible that they don't shut in their house as much as they would if it was a higher bill.

In other words, windows could be left open.  People don't set it to 22.  They may have some thermostat creep up to 24, things like that.  So...

MR. MILLAR:  I guess I am not following how that is different from your total bill variable.

MR. GARDINER:  Well, the total bill, when you are doing a regression analysis, is you're saying I've got a weather effect, I have an efficiency effect and I have a price effect.

So I need data for the price.  The data I am using is the total bill amount, because I have that information, and that is representing the price effect, okay?

So the data that is in that price variable in the regression is telling me if I change the total bill by a certain amount, I will get this change in consumption.

It won't pick up any sort of secondary price effect that could be changing consumer behaviour.  That's -- so it is not direct to the total bill effect.  Okay?

MR. MILLAR:  But it is related to lower gas prices?

Again, I know you're kind of guessing to some extent, because your regression equation doesn't explain it.

MR. GARDINER:  Right.  I was providing some judgment here that was saying people may not be setting their thermostats at the 22 degrees.  There may be some thermostat creep taking place.

And if you increase -- increase the thermostat by one or two degrees, you will get the residual.  That's...

MR. MILLAR:  Are you suggesting that would be done for a reason other than price?

Like, why would there be thermostat creep for reasons other than low gas prices?

MR. GARDINER:  You could get it if you had a really warm summer and the bills were low.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, but --


MR. GARDINER:  A warm winter, I should say.

MR. MILLAR:  That's a bill issue though, isn't it?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is this something you've thought of looking at more carefully?

I recognize the error that you found isn't enormous by any stretch, but it's puzzling, perhaps.  Have you thought of looking more into the low gas price issue?

You seem to have sort of twigged on to it here, but whatever it is isn't captured in your current regression equation.  Have you considered looking into this more carefully?  Is there something else that can be done?

MR. GARDINER:  You're asking for the model to be re-specified.

MR. MILLAR:  Not necessarily.  I am wondering if you thought -- obviously you have thought about this.  You gave us some thoughts in the IR response; you provided some now.

Has any of this led to maybe you're going to have another look at the regression equation and see if there can be some -- I don't know how these are built, but new input or what have you?

MR. GARDINER:  What we did do when we updated for the 2011, it would reflect now the total bills of 2011.  So the coefficients in the regression would be different, and the elasticities might be affected.

But one year, additional one year in a regression that spans back to 1994 is not going to dramatically change the coefficients.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I guess the answer to my question is that you haven't looked at changing the regression equation?

MR. GARDINER:  No, we have not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

If you could flip back to C1, tab 1, page 23, that's where we had figure 5 showing the NAC for the old M2.

Again, C1, tab 1, page 23.  This is -- again, this was an update where you updated the numbers for 2011 to show the actuals; is that correct?

MR. GARDINER:  Can you give me the reference again?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  C1, Tab 1, page 23.

MR. GARDINER:  I have page 23, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, I'm looking at figure 5, and we were just discussing this.  This is where you had updated the evidence to include the 2011 actuals?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You didn't update the forecast for 2012 or 2013 after updating the 2011 actuals, did you?

MR. GARDINER:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  And why not?  Wouldn't that have an impact on your forecast for 2012 and 2013?

MR. GARDINER:  As I stated earlier, when I looked at the results of the new set of numbers compared to the original set of numbers, I was very close, and because of that I'm within my forecast accuracy.

Therefore I am not changing the forecast.  I'm sticking with the original evidence estimates.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, isn't your starting point higher for 2011?  Shouldn't that impact what 2012 and 2013 are?

MR. GARDINER:  No, because the regression analysis incorporates all the actual data going back, in this case, to 1991 by month.

MR. MILLAR:  If you were to do that analysis today, you would have an updated figure for 2011 but everything else would be the same; correct?

MR. GARDINER:  That is what we provided in LPMA...

MR. MILLAR:  But just for 2011?

MR. GARDINER:  In the LPMA -- if you go to the LPMA J.C-1-2-5, page 3 of 3, and on there, there is a table that shows the results for 2013 after updating the regression estimates incorporating the year 2011.

And you'll see on the right column that says "percent difference" 1.1 percent for residential M1, which is the vast majority of that old M2.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. GARDINER:  And everything else says the same.  We didn't change the customer numbers.

All we did is we updated the regressions and reran the whole process and we ended up with 1.1 more volume, which is within the forecasting accuracy.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, 1.1 percent more volume?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  Which translates into 1.1 percent more NAC.

But I am now within my forecasting accuracy of two percent.  I'm well within.  I am almost at one percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I accept that, but if you were to run the numbers today, your numbers for 2012 and 2013 would be about 1.1 percent higher than they appear at page 23 of C1, tab 1?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Because let's look at this another way.  You've got -- your actuals for 2011 are 2,264.  Then your 2013 forecast is 2,148.  Do you see that?

I am back on C1, tab 1, page 23.  I'm just looking at the numbers right in that little box, 2,264 to 1,148?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's a decline of 116 m3 over two years?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you take it, subject to check, that that is a decrease of over five percent for those two years?

MR. GARDINER:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Does that seem a little steep to you?

MR. GARDINER:  No.  No.  We have in that market not only new customers that come in at high-efficiency furnaces, we have about 60,000, each year, furnace replacements.  These are existing customers that may have 25- to 30-year-old furnaces, and they're going from conventionals to high-efficiency, and there's, like, a 40 percent gain in efficiency right there.

And that's what -- it is one of the key factors for driving the estimate from 2,264 to 2,148.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But your 2010 actuals -- correct me if I'm wrong -- were 2,284?  Does that sound right?

I can't even recall where I pulled that number.

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So from 2010 to 2011, you only dropped 20 m3; is that right?  I know year over year things will vary, but it is only a 20 m3 drop?  Or less than one percent?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, 20 is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Then if I look at your chart on figure 5, going back to -- we don't have -- we've got the points on the graph here but we don't have the numbers.  It's a fairly light decline going back at least to 2005.

First of all, are those actual numbers anywhere in the evidence?  I couldn't find them.  By which I mean the NAC for the old M2s.

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  If you go to the appendix C1, tab 1, appendix A, page 3 of 16.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. GARDINER:  Exhibit C1, tab 1, appendix A, page 3 of 16.

There are the normalized average consumptions, based on the 2013 20-year declining trend, going back in time to 1991.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  I won't be able to do the math here in my head, but it looks to me like the general decline is something in the range of around one percent, maybe a little more, over the last five, six, seven years on an annual basis?

MR. GARDINER:  It's more than that.  Subject to check, I think it is in the 1.5 percent range.

MR. MILLAR:  But you're estimating more than 2.5 percent for the next two years?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, we are.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, to ask an obvious question, if the actual NAC comes in higher than you forecast, all else being equal, this is going to increase your revenues for 2013; is that fair?

MR. GARDINER:  That is fair.

MR. MILLAR:  Could you turn to -- this is the LPMA interrogatory I referred to at the beginning, J.C-1-2-2.

MR. GARDINER:  I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  If you go to page 2 of that, that is where it shows the actual numbers for the rate M1, which we have agreed is almost identical to what we had in M2.

The 2013 forecast, for example, is different by four cubic metres, so it is essentially the same?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, I want to run through a hypothetical here with you to see what we would be looking at in terms of numbers.

Imagine if we were to increase the NAC forecast for 2013 to incorporate the 1 percent residual error you had in 2011, and, as we discussed before, that was approximately 22 m3 a year.  Do you recall that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be about 44 m3 over two years?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So that would bring the forecast NAC for M1 from 2,144 to 2,188; is that right?

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  If you were to do that, are you able to plug that into your model and tell us what the impact on your revenue forecast would be?

MR. GARDINER:  I may be able to do that right now.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be impressive.

[Laughter]

MR. GARDINER:  Bear with me.  Your 88 -- are you asking for the volume or the revenue?

MR. MILLAR:  The revenue, I guess.  I want to know what the impact would be on the revenue forecast.

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.  You're looking at roughly 4 cents per cubic metre.  So 88 times 4 cents is $3.20-something cents, or maybe it's more.  Ninety would be 3.60, so it's below 3.60.  Then you would be multiplying that by the number of customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Which is just under a million?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So about three-and-a-half million dollars?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be a reasonable ballpark estimate?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  A quick reference, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's helpful, thank you.

I'm going to move on to my last area.  Could I ask you to turn up J.C-3-2-4?  That is another LPMA interrogatory.  It is really just a clarification question.

In part (b) to this response, you have updated the regression results using actual 2011 numbers for the LCI and greenhouse market.  In 2013, the number for LCI market is now 1,016,455 m3 and for the greenhouse market it is 319,391.  Do you see that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, you might want to keep your finger on that, but if I were to compare that to the prefiled number, I think I see that at Exhibit C1, tab 2, page 7.  Does that sound right?  There is a table 1.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MILLAR:  So, for example, you see greenhouse there.  If you skip over to the end, you see the 2013 forecast was 315,000 and I understand now it is about 319; is that right?

MR. GARDINER:  That is the correct comparison, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, for the LCI market, in table 1, that's combined with another category; is that right?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, the key market.

MR. MILLAR:  That's why we can't get the -- I can't get the number just looking at table 1?

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you be able to provide the prefiled or -- I guess there is no prefiled, but could you give us the pre-update number just for LCI?  An undertaking would be fine.

MR. SMITH:  We can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess I am just asking you to back out the key...

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I understand.  We'll do that.

MR. MILLAR:  So that is J2.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.8:  TO PROVIDE PRE-UPDATE NUMBERS FOR LCI.

MR. MILLAR:  Finally on this point, if you stay on Exhibit C1, tab 2, table 2 shows the revenues commensurate, I think, with the volumes that appear in table 1; is that right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you've updated the forecast in response -- the volumes, but you haven't updated the revenue.  Is that something that you can do?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, I'm not sure I'm following you, in that the revenue table is at table 2.  Maybe I missed the question.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  You updated -- you didn't actually update table 1, but the LPMA interrogatory I took you to give updated figures for lines 3 and -- part of line 3 and all of line 4 for the volumes.

And perhaps because I don't think Mr. Aiken asked you, there were no -- there were no commensurate updates to the revenue forecast based on those new volumes, so I am wondering if that table 2 could be updated to account for those higher volumes.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just one minute.

Maybe I can ask the witness panel.  I'm not quite sure that it's that simple; that's all.  I would ask the panel to answer that question.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So can we just have the question back to make sure we're clear?  So can we use greenhouse as the example?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think that is easier.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So 2012 on table 1, we had a volume of 303 and 315.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  You would like those to be updated to the 315 or 315.9 number and the 319, and then the corresponding revenue impact on table 2?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MILLAR:  And then although it is a little bit more complicated, the same for line 3, just with the LCI market.

MR. SMITH:  Just so I am clear, just lines 3 and 4, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and only the LCI.  We only have an update for the volume for LCI, which is part of line 3.

MR. SMITH:  We can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  That will be undertaking J2.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.9:  TO UPDATE LCI NUMBERS IN LINES 3 AND 4 OF EXHIBIT C1, TAB 2, TABLE 2


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  The Panel does have just a few questions.  Ms. Taylor will go first.
Questions by the Board:


MS. TAYLOR:  I think this is for Ms. Van Der Paelt, if I am pronouncing that properly.  I just want to make sure that I completely understand the bottom-up approach for the large 81 customers.  What it sounds like to me is that you're using the contract demand unadjusted for any additional information that would have occurred from when that original estimate was set, I guess using the 2010 or 2011 contract volumes; is that right?

So the forecast for 2013, when you went through the process and when you filed this application, which would have been at some point in 2012 -- well, actually, 2011, and you had conversations for the 2011 contract year, it is that information that is reflected in your forecast, and now that we're, you know, midway through 2012, that forecast has not been updated for any other circumstances that Union Gas may feel is relevant to customer consumption.  Is that correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  I have just a follow-up to the question that Mr. Millar had, and it was with respect to how you are tracking year to date.

Mr. Gardiner, you said that you were tracking 1.4 percent higher than what was budgeted.  And what was budgeted was based on a 55:45 split; correct?

MR. GARDINER:  That is correct.

MS. HARE:  So had you gone to a 20-year trend, the amount that you'd be over would be higher?

MR. GARDINER:  No.  It would still be 1.4 percent, because the normalization -- the actuals get normalized.

MS. HARE:  Well, I wanted to ask that next, because you actually had a very warm winter.  So your biggest volume quarter was actually quite bad, wasn't it?

MR. GARDINER:  The 1.4 percent higher is comparing the normalized volumes to the forecasted volumes.

MS. HARE:  All normalized?

MR. GARDINER:  All normalized.

MS. HARE:  Yes.  Okay.  That's clear.

When you talked about the elasticity, I was actually a bit confused, because your first answer was that it is very low, 14 percent change in bill to get a one percent change in consumption, but then in discussion of thermostat creep, it sounded to me like you were saying the opposite.

So maybe I am confused and you can correct my confusion.

MR. GARDINER:  I was trying to give -- there is a residual.  I mean, it occurred.  And I'm now sort of applying judgment, sort of saying:  Okay, what could it be from?

It could be from thermostat creep that is due to bills, or it could be also due to other factors, but in regression analysis, when I am doing the analysis, I'm comparing -- I'm regressing one set of data against another set of data to get some coefficients.

And then that is telling me that I can't sort of say:  Well, okay.  I will add this to that number for this year and do something.

I'm being very strict on the analysis, following the regression analysis method.

And then I am basically saying:  Well, okay.  There's some higher consumption.  Because bills have been low in the recent past, we may have some higher consumption.

It's like a secondary effect.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Ms. Newbury, how are other revenues --


[Laughter]


MR. GARDINER:  Sorry.  I was jerked awake.

[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  I was not -- that's the first time a witness did not answer one question.

How are other revenues tracking year to date against your budget?

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, we'll give an undertaking.

MS. NEWBURY:  I have that information.

MR. SMITH:  You better know this.

MS. NEWBURY:  As of June year to date, we are tracking below budget by $1.6 million.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  And I think Ms. Taylor has a follow-up.

MS. TAYLOR:  I wasn't going to ask this, but it has been sort of bothering me throughout the panel.  And maybe, Mr. Gardiner, this is for you.

If the regression formula has not been re-specified since 2004, I just have a great discomfort with that, in view of the fact, particularly, that it produced a large and unexplainable error in 2011.

And yes, I understand regression and one year's date is not going to skew the outcome, and so on.

But a regression formula is -- they go stale, I guess is my concern.  If you are looking at other in the finance panel and capital markets theory, I mean, we use 60 months beta.  It rolls.

I can't recall a time where someone has come in and said to me a regression formula that was specified eight years ago remains relevant today.

And then I also note you shortened up the time frame for analysis on the heating degree-days.  You said it is a 20-year trend.  If I understand you correctly, you shortened the data from 1991 to 1994, which means it is actually 16 years to 2012, but the data that you would be using ended in 2011.

So I have some difficulty with the overall specification of the regression formula, the time frame that you are including in the data and the fact that it is producing errors that you simply cannot explain.

MR. GARDINER:  First, for clarity, are we talking about the demand equations?  The consumption equations?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  Specifically on the errors.

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.  The regression equations that you have in evidence and in the update are regressions that were prepared early last year, with data up to either 2010 or 2011.

They are not the same regressions that we had in the 2004 rate case.

As we do our budgets, we have our regression formulas, and you saw the demand drivers.  So the specification of the model hasn't basically changed.

The results that we get with the model, when at the end of the year -- and we do the variance analysis and we have a NAC variance of less than one percent, because now I've accounted for FEI, accounted for this, you know, the total bill, I have accounted for the DSM plan.  So you may see in a given year, yes, I was off by 1.8, but when I account for the other things I am below one percent.

When I get results like that, I say:  Don't change the model.

The regression equations in the residential and kin the -- especially the residential, are very robust.

In the commercial market, I had to change them.  And that was in the evidence.  We used to do it by old residential -- old commercial M2, and then we had one for commercial 01 and commercial 10.

Those models did not work last year, so I changed the model.  I consolidated the models to get something to work.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith, do you have redirect for this panel?

MR. SMITH:  I do.  I wonder if you were planning on taking a break.  I may be able to be a bit more efficient if you give me five minutes, 10 minutes to consolidate my notes, or if you were not planning on taking a break --


MS. HARE:  No.  We were planning to take a break, but then maybe you could have your next panel --


MR. SMITH:  Yes, I will have them come up.

MS. HARE:  That's great.  So let's take a break now until, let's say, 10 to.

Oh, oh, before we break, Mr. Smith, we have on the schedule that we would be starting panel 3 tomorrow.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  That may be unlikely given that we're taking longer, and so what we were actually wondering is -- particularly since we're going to hear submissions on the issue raised by CME -- is it worth your bringing people from Chatham that might be on the stand for half an hour on a Friday afternoon?

I will leave that for you to think about.

MR. SMITH:  I can probably just tell you where we're at.  I have brought the people from Chatham, but I appreciate the consideration and I will talk to them.  They are here, and so my initial instinct was to say, well, let's just run into panel 3.

I need to make sure that the cost of capital witnesses who are travelling from the United States are available, because if we're running behind, as we are, panel 3 is not going to be done tomorrow.  They will be on Monday, which will push cost of capital to Tuesday, and if they're not available Thursday we would have a scheduling problem.

So it may be that we are back to what we had originally thought, and I will be back to you.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  So 10 to, we will be back.

--- Recess taken at 3:37 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:54 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Smith, your redirect.
Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I do have a few questions.

Mr. Gardiner, I'm sure this is for my benefit perhaps alone and the benefit of the transcript, but can you tell me what the root mean square is?

MR. GARDINER:  The root mean square error is a strong statistical measurement of accuracy.  It is a recognized method of measuring accuracy, variation between actuals and estimates.

The main benefit of using the root mean square error is it treats the positive variances and negative variances, because if we just did it without -- if we just took an average over 20 years, you get no variances, because the pluses and minuses negate themselves.

And the other thing the root mean square error does is it also treats the fact that you had small variances and large variances, so it is a generally accepted statistical measure of accuracy.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Brett put to you in his cross-examination that it was, to use his words, "an odd conceit" to use a dummy variable.

Is the use of such a variable typical or atypical in regression analysis?

MR. GARDINER:  It is typical.  It is a way of dealing with -- in energy demand forecasts, if there's a major structural change or, as we discussed yesterday, an outlier, an observation of consumption that is variant by a large amount to standard deviations, then it is there to apply a dummy variable.

It is something that is done in regression analysis for energy demand forecasting and other types of forecasting, because it treats -- the other choice is to take that data out of the regression.  You clip it out.  You would say it is bad data.  But you can do a regression analysis; you put a dummy.  It's the same thing.

MR. SMITH:  You were asked a question by Member Taylor towards the end about re-specification, and my question for you is:  What consideration have you given, if any, to the question of re-specification of your model since 2004?

MR. GARDINER:  Well, each year, when we prepare our budget forecast and we go through the exercise, we start with our existing models and we see how well they have forecasted in the past.  We look at the regression results, which are provided.  They're very strong, and we see if the model works.

And then, for example, we do a forecast for budget.  When the budget year comes, we look at it.  We do a variance analysis.  If it fits within the 2 percent, the model is working.

Well, that is what has happened with the residential model over the past -- since we started doing this 15 years ago.  The results indicate that we don't need to change the model.

The same is true with the industrial volume model, which we've been using in this rate case and prior.  We look at the results.  They're within the reasonable bounds for an industrial class and, therefore, we do not change the model specification.

For the commercial model we did, because the old models that we had, which were by service and rate class, did not work.  So every year we go and we look at the results, and we look at the regression results.  Do we have in the model demand drivers that you would expect to have, like weather, a price variable and efficiency variable, some kind of economic indicator?

Say, for the industrial market, you would love to get, you know, oil prices and exchange rates in your models, if you can, and -- because you want to have a model that says:  Consumption is a function of, if it's a heat sensitive load, weather, price, efficiency and other sort of you know pertinent demand drivers.

MR. SMITH:  And so it is clear on the record, what are the explanatory variables that you use in your model?

MR. GARDINER:  In the residential models we have -- there's two, and it's - there's a use equation, which is -- there's weather.  There's a furnace efficiency index, which is basically the efficiency driver.

There is total bill.  There's persons per household.  All of those things explain residential usage.

We also have a residential volume equation where we have the heating degree days, the total bill and -- I have to remember.  It's been a long day.  Volumes -- oh, customers, because it's a volume equation.

In the commercial, we have weather.  We have the fall weather harvest variable.  We have two trend variables, one for the heating season - and that was the hockey stick I was talking about yesterday - and we have a trend variable for the summer load to reflect a structural change that has taken place in the summer load.

And then we had two dummies to take account of outliers from March 2000 and April 2000.  This is in appendix A, page 11 of 16 of C1, tab 1.

And for the industrial market, we have heating degree days, the price of heavy fuel oil number 6.  We have the exchange rate, and then we have some dummy variables to account for some structural changes and the recession effect of 2009 and 2010, early 2010.  And those are in the models.

And, again, if you go to the appendix, there's charts and tables that show the models and also have graphs that show how well the models have performed, as well as the regression results, which are very strong.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn up J.C-1-2-5, please, sir, and ask you to turn to page 3 of 3?

MR. GARDINER:  I have it.

MR. SMITH:  And I believe I'm in the right spot.  And I would draw your attention to the difference that you were taken to by Mr. Millar of 1.1 percent for residential M1.  Do you see that?  Page 3 --


MR. GARDINER:  Yes, correct.  I have it.

MR. SMITH:  -- in the upper right-hand corner of the table.

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, thank you.

MR. SMITH:  And you commented on forecast error.  But from a statistical perspective, can you tell us what is the difference between the results you obtain at page 3 of 3 and your prefiled evidence in terms of the accuracy of the two?

MR. GARDINER:  Well, both are within the forecast accuracy of the demand equations.

MR. SMITH:  And what does that mean in simple terms?

MR. GARDINER:  That means about -- when you do a forecast, there's going to be -- you're coming up with a point.  There's going to be a variance around it, okay?  And the models can have a range of error, and the range of error is 2 percent.

These are well within the 2 percent error.  The 2 percent error reflects the unexplained variance that we've seen historically over time.

So when I -- you know, I go back and look at all of my forecasts, and what have you, and I say, How well have I forecasted, after I explain all of the driver assumptions, and what's their ability?  And that's how I get this 2 percent range.

So I am well within the range.  I'm in the ballpark.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you, just from a statistical perspective, can you tell the Board which of the two is more statistically accurate?

MR. GARDINER:  Well, on page 3 of 3, those are the actual results.  That is an actual year, and...

MR. SMITH:  Maybe put a different way, sir, at a 95 percent confidence level, what is the difference between the two?

MR. GARDINER:  They're both within that.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Just moving along, do you have LPMA's compendium?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And can I ask you to turn to page 3 of 16?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And at page 3 of 16, this is J.C-1-2-2, and I'm looking at page of 2, sir.

MR. GARDINER:  What is the other reference, Mr. Crawford --


MR. SMITH:  J.C-1-2-2, page 2 of 2.

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And if I could draw your attention to, under actual 2011, 3,830, do you have that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And forecast 2013, 3,610.  Do you see that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you referred to DSM in your discussion with Mr. Aiken, and my question is:  What, if any, other factors may be affecting the results from 2011 to 2013?

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.  I mentioned this earlier.

About 45 percent of the contribution of that decline is coming from the residential market.  It's coming from the non-DSM-related energy efficiency.  It's coming mainly from the furnace replacement, the 60,000 homes, existing homes that have furnaces that fail and need to be replaced.  And because you're going from a conventional furnace to a high-efficiency, you've got a 40 percent gain just per furnace.

That's the major one.

One-third of the -- about one-third of the change that we see there is due to the high-usage, the unexplained high-usage, which is receding in the commercial market.

And then there's the DSM plans, would contribute about 14 percent of that decline.

MR. SMITH:  Just picking up on the DSM question, if the suggestion were made that in your calculation of normalized average consumption you were double-counting DSM effects, would you agree with that?

MR. GARDINER:  No.

MR. SMITH:  Why not?

MR. GARDINER:  Because if we look at each of the markets, in the commercial and industrial market in the demand equations, there is no energy efficiency variable.

And 60 percent of the DSM plan is in the commercial industrial in the general service market.

So I need to reflect there is an energy efficiency program, DSM-based, that will affect our forecast.  So we apply that.

In the residential market for the forecast period. the DSM programs are mainly thermostat-related, ESK kits, you know, consumer –-

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps we should break that out.  "ESK kits" means?

MR. GARDINER:  Oh, these are energy saving kits that you --


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MR. GARDINER:  -- that you get.  And also information on the wise use of energy.

The -- so there is no furnace program in our current DSM plans, but we have these programs and they do affect consumption.

The historical data, I do not have -- the historical data is mainly being affected by furnace replacement and new furnaces in new homes and the FEI index, the furnace efficiency index, that is in the model is picking up those changes.  And the econometrics gives you a number, and I say:  Yes, I have that.  And that's similar to the discussion I had with Mr. Aiken on the 2,193, but I know that I have these DSM programs and these targets, and they are achieving the targets.

And over the next -- over the period '11 to '18, you know, at six cubic metres a year, it accumulates -- it is about 18 cubic metres, so that's why I have to reduce the number.

So there is no double-counting.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Just moving along, you were asked a series of questions by Mr. Buonaguro relating to heteroskedasticity.  Do you recall that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes.  Heteroskedasticity, yes.

MR. SMITH:  I have a question in relation to heteroskedasticity.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  My question in relation to that is whether or not the existing -- well, what, if any, is the difference in the heteroskedasticity in the 20-year -- in what you are proposing and what is in the existing Board methodology?

MR. GARDINER:  Both.  Because we're talking about the weather data and putting a trend line through the weather data, or the blend, you would see that there is a variance, as we get -- as we go from 20 years ago to today, the variances are bigger.  There is a pattern.

That's the heteroskedasticity.

And that's also when we hear about climate change, how the weather is becoming more unpredictable, more variant -- think of last March -- that's the widening, that's the movement of the weather.

So both of them have heteroskedasticity in them.

MR. SMITH:  Now, you were asked a series of questions in relation to certain tests done in -- or certain -- certain models with respect to weather that you looked at in 2004.  Do you recall that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And how did the 20-year trend compare to those other models?

MR. GARDINER:  It was the superior model.

MR. SMITH:  Which was the superior model?

MR. GARDINER:  The 20-year trend.

MR. SMITH:  Do you have any reason to believe, sir -- and if so, why -- that situation may have changed between 2004 and today?

MR. GARDINER:  I know, in comparison to the 30-year average, the blended method and the 20-year trend, that the 20-year trend is the superior method.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, my question was imprecise.

In relation to -- you tell us the models that you ran -- the models you looked at in 2004 did not perform as well as the 20-year trend.

My question is:  Those models that you didn't look at again, do you have any reason to believe that they would perform better today than in 2004?

MR. GARDINER:  I have no reason to believe that they would perform better.

MR. SMITH:  Going back to -- you were asked in relation to the technical conference transcript at page 88 -- and I would ask my friend to pull that up -- some questions.  And you were talking -- you made the observation there, in answer to my friend, that you were looking at the demand equation as opposed to the weather.  And I would ask you:  Why did you make that distinction?

MR. GARDINER:  The distinction is I apply these statistical tests on my demand equations, because as a -- if you want -- economic behaviour effect is a cause, and there's an effect.  Weather changes, prices change, consumption changes.  And these are models that are used for forecasts and the whole business that we're discussing right now.

So the weather-normal, I don't do those tests because the idea is to come up with a normal.

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps you can clarify that, what you mean by that.

MR. GARDINER:  Okay.  We need an estimate of what standard weather would be, normal weather.

In the past when weather was not varying and the 30-year average worked, if you -– you know, 1940 and 1970, those averages were satisfactory -- with climate change we're seeing weather getting warmer.  So we still have to come up with an average, but the average that works best is the trend line, which is an average.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask my friend to turn up JT1.56?

Do we have that?  Why don't we come back to it?  I will just move along.  Ms. Van Der Paelt, you were asked a question by Member Taylor in relation to the forecast, the bottom-up forecast, and you were asked, between 2011 and 2012, you've not revised the forecast to take account of things Union might know.  Do you recall that?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  In aggregate, are there any such things that would cause you to vary your forecast?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No, there aren't.

MR. SMITH:  Now, perhaps to borrow my friend Mr. Thompson's term, I would like to get a bit of context.

Can I ask you to turn up, panel, J.C-1-2-5?  I think it is J.C-1-2-5.  No, hold on.  I might be wrong.

I'm sorry, that is the wrong reference.  Can I ask you to turn up your prefiled evidence, tab C1, tab 2, page 5?  C1, tab 2, page 5.  This is for you, Ms. Van Der Paelt.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I have that.

MR. SMITH:  And if you have that -- and I would ask you to take out Mr. Thompson's compendium at K2.3.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And Mr. Thompson asked you about the revenue deficiency/sufficiency components looking at the contract market on page 1 of K2.3.  Do you recall that?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And, I'm sorry, I may have said page 5.  I meant page 7.

I would ask you to look at table 2, Exhibit C1, tab 2, page 7.  Do you see that?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And we have in this -- well, maybe you can tell us.  What do we have in this table?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So in table 2 we have our revenue comparison all stated at Q1 2011 rates.  So they're consistent in terms of how they're stated across from 2007 actual to the 2013 forecast.

MR. SMITH:  So maybe you can just explain that, when you say actuals.  There's a note at line -- at the very bottom.  What is being conveyed in that note?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So in the actual revenue deficiency -- so if I refer back to Mr. Thompson's schedule, page 1, the revenue deficiency and sufficiency components, there would be different weighted average cost of gas factors in the rates and different rates throughout that time period.

MR. SMITH:  That's in K2.3?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  What this table does is actually show -- so that doesn't really speak to a forecast variance, because there is other noise in the numbers on that page 1.

In the revenue comparison, this truly speaks to your actuals versus your forecast, all stated with the same base assumption around the cost of gas.

MR. SMITH:  So if we were interested in knowing how Union had performed relative to its Board-approved figures or even its 2007 actual results, which should we be looking at?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  You should be looking at C1, tab 2, page 7 of 14.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Table 2.

MR. SMITH:  J.C-1-2-2, please, and page -- I'm sorry.  Let me make sure I've got that right.  Sorry.  We have asked that.  J.C-1-2-5, please, page 2 of 3.

My apologies.  I should have been -- J.C-1-2-2.  I did have the right page, page 2 of 2.  And, Mr. Gardiner, you were asked a question by Mr. Millar about NAC.  Do you recall that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And here again you were asked about the figures for the last five years.  Do you recall that?

MR. GARDINER:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And is that an appropriate time period in your view, yes or no, in which to consider NAC?

MR. GARDINER:  No, it's not an appropriate period.

MR. SMITH:  Why do you say that, sir?

MR. GARDINER:  Because the NAC estimate for 2013 is developed by the regression models and the application of DSM, and the assumptions that go into those models.

MR. SMITH:  Just a final couple of questions for you, Ms. Van Der Paelt.  You were asked very early on by Mr. Wolnik about BCD.  Do you recall that?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  What does that refer to?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That refers to a new service that came into effect in 2007 called the billing contract demand service.

MR. SMITH:  To whom does it apply?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  It applies to new customers or existing customers that have new incremental load in excess of 1,200,000 m3 a day.  They have to be directly connected to the Dawn Trafalgar system, close to Parkway, or they have to have access to a third party pipeline.

MR. SMITH:  When you say "they", how many such customers are there?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  One.

MR. SMITH:  And who is that?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That is Halton Hills.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Oh, thank you very much, panel.  You are excused.  Your testimony has been very helpful.

Mr. Smith, can you introduce your next panel, please?

MR. SMITH:  Oh -- no, that's fine.  No, it's okay.  I was going to go back to JT1.56.  I will deal with it with a different panel.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  We do have a hard stop at 4:30, but I understand, Mr. Wolnik, you won't be here tomorrow and you only have a few minutes?

MR. WOLNIK:  That's right.  I can even read the question into the record if you want.

MS. HARE:  Let's have the panel introduced, have them sworn in, and we will see.

MR. SMITH:  I do have some examination-in-chief.  That's why I am a little bit -- just concerned about the time, but I am mindful of Mr. Wolnik.  I am happy to have them sworn and put the question on the record.

MS. HARE:  All right.  Why don't we do that, and then we will end for today?

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  I would like to call Mr. Quigley, Ms. Evers, Ms. Hodgson and Mr. Shorts to the stand, please, to be sworn.
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MR. SMITH:  Moving from my left, I will just introduce them, and then we will have the question.

Ms. Evers, I understand that you are the manager of gas supply at Union Gas?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that's a position that you have held since 2011?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have been employed by Union Gas since approximately 1995?

MS. EVERS:  1990, yes.

MR. SMITH:  1990.

Members of the Panel, as I indicated earlier, there are CVs in the record at A1, tab 14.

I understand, Ms. Evers, there's a slight correction to yours, in that you have appeared before the Board recently.

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.  I appeared in EB-2011-0283.

MR. SMITH:  That was the renewable natural gas proceeding?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Ms. Hodgson, if I -- oh, I'm sorry.

Ms. Evers, were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of the gas supply-related evidence at D1, tab 14?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.  I did.

MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying before the Board?

MS. EVERS:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And equally, were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of answers to interrogatories in relation to that evidence?

MS. EVERS:  I did.

MR. SMITH:  And do you similarly adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. EVERS:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Ms. Hodgson, moving to you, I understand that you hold the position of manager, gas transportation acquisition; is that correct?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And that is a position that you've held since 2010?

MS. HODGSON:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you've been with Union Gas since 2001?

MS. HODGSON:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand prior to that, you held positions with Primus Telecommunications and Smart Talk Networks, among others; is that correct?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, I did.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have a MBA from York University?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a HBA, honours business administration degree from Wilfrid Laurier?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And you are a member of the Project Management Professionals Association?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, I am.

MR. SMITH:  You have not appeared before the Board before?

MS. HODGSON:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Welcome.

Did you assist in the preparation of the gas supply evidence at D1, tab 14?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, I did.

MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Equally, did you assist in the preparation of answers to interrogatories in relation to that evidence?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, I did.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Shorts, I understand that you are the director of gas supply?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  That's a position that you assumed earlier this year?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been with Union Gas in positions of increasing responsibility since 1986; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of Windsor?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you have testified before the Board on several occasions, most recently in EB-2008-0106?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And did you assist in the preparation of the gas supply evidence at D1, tab 14?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. SHORTS:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And equally answers to interrogatories, did you assist in the preparation of those, sir?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt them for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. SHORTS:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And finally, Mr. Quigley, I understand that you hold the position of manager, integrated gas supply planning?

MR. QUIGLEY:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you joined Union Gas -- that's a position you have held since 2005?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  You joined Union Gas in 2000?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, I did.

MR. SMITH:  Prior to that, you worked for London Reinsurance Group?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And before that, its related entity, London Life Insurance Company?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you were an accountant at Clarkson Gordon, now Ernst & Young?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  You are a certified management accountant?

MR. QUIGLEY:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  You have a bachelor of arts degree from the University of -- Western University?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are a member of the Society of Management Accountants of Ontario?

MR. QUIGLEY:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have testified before the Board on two separate occasions, most recently in EB-2007-0724?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And did you assist in the preparation of the gas supply evidence at D1, tab 14?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, I did.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt the evidence -- do you adopt the interrogatories -- or the answers to interrogatories asked in relation to that evidence?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Those are my questions for now.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Wolnik, do I understand correctly you only have one question?

MR. WOLNIK:  It is probably two very brief questions.  Perhaps what I could do is just read those two brief questions into the record.

MS. HARE:  Yes.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik

MR. WOLNIK:  And the panel could either answer this tomorrow, or if they prefer to defer this to the ex-franchise revenue panel, that's fine too.

My question really goes to the potential timing of the phase-out of the FT RAM attribute that is contained in the -- in your long-haul FT contracts with TransCanada, and that is -- and the question is:  Do you have a forecast of the earliest reasonable time when those attributes could be phased out if the Board approves that within the TransCanada rate case?

And to the extent that you don't have that forecast, do you agree with the forecast that is on the National Energy Board record, in Volume 15 at transcript 16,651?  That is an interchange between the TransCanada witness panel in that hearing, and the other Mr. Brett.

And in that exchange, they talk about May or June of next year.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

We will, then, resume tomorrow at 9:30.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:31 p.m.
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